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InRIS UCITS Plc

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

The Board of Directors (the “Directors”) present the annual report and audited financial statements for InRIS UCITS
Plc (the “Company”) for the financial year ended 31 December 2022. The Company, whose registered office is
located at 33 Sir John Rogerson’s Quay, Dublin 2, Ireland, is an investment company with variable capital and
having segregated liability between its funds. The Company was incorporated in Ireland on 9 May 2013 and is an
Undertaking for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities (“UCITS”) pursuant to the European Communities
(Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations, 2011 (S.I. No. 352 of 2011) (as
amended) and Sl No 230 of 2020 — Central Bank (Supervision and Enforcement) Act 2013 (Section 48(1))
(Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations 2019 (together, the “UCITS
regulations”). The Company has been authorised by the Central Bank of Ireland as a UCITS pursuant to the UCITS
regulations.

The Company is structured as an umbrella fund and may consist of different funds each comprising one or more
classes of shares. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company had three active funds, InRIS Parus,
InRIS CFM Diversified and InRIS Perdurance Market Neutral (together, the “Funds”). As disclosed in note 1, the
Manager has entered into an agreement with a number of Trading Advisors to which management of part or all of
the Funds’ assets have been delegated.

Investment Objectives
The investment objective of InRIS Parus is to generate absolute returns by targeting, on the long side, mainly growth
stocks with a competitive advantage and, on the short side, structurally declining companies with operating or

financial leverage.

The investment objective of InRIS CFM Diversified is to achieve long-term capital appreciation through trading
strategies that seek to have a return profile different from that of traditional asset classes such as stocks and bonds.

The investment objective of INRIS Perdurance Market Neutral is to produce long-term capital growth by investing in
a market neutral portfolio of primarily European equities while delivering low correlation to equity markets.

Review of Business

The Directors consider that the review of the business for the period is contained in the Manager’s Report on pages
12 -17.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Funds are exposed to the risks associated with the financial instruments and markets in which they invest.
Such risks are disclosed in note 15 to the financial statements. A further comprehensive summary of the risk factors
that investors should consider is included in the prospectus of the Company and the offering supplements of the
Funds.

Results and Dividends

The results of the Company are set out in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. The Directors have not
recommended a dividend.

The Company's key financial performance indicator for the year is the change in net assets attributable to
participating shareholders from operations, as presented in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The NAV per share of each share class of the Funds is disclosed in note 23 of the financial statements.



InRIS UCITS Plc

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Directors

The names of persons who were Directors at any time during the financial year are as follows:

Matthew Williamson (Irish) *
Catherine Lane (Irish) !
Etienne Rouzeau (French) 2
Henri Vernhes (French) 2
Baptiste Fabre (French) 2
Karan Sarda (British) 2

! Independent non-executive director
2 Non-executive director

Directors’ Interests

Etienne Rouzeau held Nil (31 December 2021: 905) Class M Euro shares in INRIS CFM Diversified at 31 December
2022.

None of the other Directors held, at 31 December 2022 or during the financial year, any beneficial interest in the
shares of the company (31 December 2021: no beneficial interest).

Related Parties
Disclosures in respect of related parties are contained in note 18 to the financial statements.
Connected Persons

The Directors are satisfied that (a) there are in place arrangements, evidenced by written procedures, to ensure
that the obligations that are prescribed by Regulation 43(1) of the UCITS Regulations are applied to all transactions
with a connected person; and (b) all transactions with a connected person that were entered into during the financial
year to which the report relates complied with the obligations that are prescribed by Regulation 43(1) of the UCITS
Regulations.

Books of Account

The Directors believe that they have complied with the requirements of section 281-285 of the Companies Act 2014
with regard to maintaining adequate accounting records by employing an experienced Administrator with
appropriate expertise who provides adequate resources to the financial function. The accounting records of the
Company are maintained by RBC Investor Services Ireland Limited, 4th Floor, One George’s Quay Plaza, George’s
Quay, Dublin 2, Ireland.

Directors’ Statement on Relevant Audit Information
Each of the Directors at the date of approval of the Directors’ Report confirms that:

a) So far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s statutory
auditor is unaware; and
b) The Directors have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as Directors in order to make

themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s statutory auditor is
aware of that information.



InRIS UCITS Plc

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Audit Committee

An audit committee has not been appointed because the Directors are satisfied that the established processes
regarding internal control and risk management systems are sufficient to ensure effective oversight of the financial
reporting and audit process. The established processes are disclosed in the Corporate Governance Statement on
page 9.

Going Concern

The Directors have made an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and are satisfied
that the Company has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, the Directors
are not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

Independent Auditor

The auditors, Deloitte Ireland LLP, have signified their willingness to continue in office in accordance with Section
383(2) of the Companies Act 2014, as amended.

Significant Events during the Year

Prior to 15 June 2022, the administration of the Company was delegated to State Street Fund Services (Ireland)
Limited, the Former Administrator, and State Street Custodial Services (Ireland) Limited was the Former Depositary.
Since 15 June 2022, the Company appointed RBC Investor Services Ireland Limited as Administrator and RBC
Investor Services Bank S.A. as Depositary in accordance with UCITS Regulations. Since 15 June 2022, the
Administrator has undertaken the role of the transfer agent and registrar of the Company. Prior to this date, CACEIS
Ireland Limited was the Former Transfer Agent of the Company.

Conflict in Ukraine

On 24 February 2022, Russian forces advanced into Ukraine launching a large-scale military invasion. The conflict
continues to escalate with devastating implications for the region both politically and economically. In an attempt to
deter Russian advances NATO member countries have imposed severe sanctions on the Russian economy. The
effect of these sanctions have led to sharp increases in the price of commodities, assets of Russian’s central bank
have been frozen, travel restrictions imposed and certain powerful individuals have been targeted for their
association to the Kremlin.

The Funds’ portfolios have no equity or fixed income exposure in either Russia or Ukraine and also has no exposure
to the respective currencies of the two countries. The direct and indirect impacts of this situation are being closely
monitored by the Board.

COVID-19
The effects of COVID-19 may continue to adversely affect the global economy, the economies of certain nations
and individual corporates and issuers, all of which may negatively impact the Funds’ performance.

Subsequent Events

On the 28 April 2023, the Directors of the Company were made aware that the majority investor of the INRIS CFM
Diversified fund (the “CFM Fund”) is looking to redeem from the Company. The Directors have decided, in a Board
Meeting on the 28 April 2023, that subject to receiving the formal notification from this investor of their request to
redeem, to instruct the Trading Advisor to sell all the underlying assets of the CFM Fund and transform the portfolio
into cash. At the same time, a notice will be sent to all investors in the CFM Fund informing them of the decision of
the Board to terminate the CFM Fund subject to the relevant notice period.

Up to the date of approval of the financial statements, there were no other material subsequent events affecting the
Company which necessitate disclosure in or revision of the figures included in the financial statements.



InRIS UCITS Plc

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Taxonomy Disclosure

The Trading Advisor for each sub-fund does not anticipate that the strategy of the sub-fund will take account of the
criteria for environmentally sustainable economic activities under the Regulation (EU) 2020/852 of the European
Parliament and of the Council of 18 June 2020 on the establishment of a framework to facilitate sustainable
investment as may be supplemented, consolidated, substituted in any form or otherwise modified from time to time
(the Taxonomy Regulation).

Corporate Governance Statement
The Company is subject to corporate governance practices imposed by:

(i) the Irish Companies Act 2014 (the “Irish Companies Act”);
(ii) the Articles of Association of the Company; and
(iii) the Central Bank of Ireland

In addition, the Company adopted the Corporate Governance Code published by Irish Funds (“IF”) for Irish domiciled
Collective Investment Schemes (the “IFIA Code”). The IFIA Code is publicly available at www.irishfunds.ie.

The Directors voluntarily adopted the Corporate Governance Code for Irish Domiciled Collective Investment
Schemes as published by IF, as the Company’s corporate governance code. The Directors have assessed the
measures included in the IFIA Code as being consistent with its corporate governance practices and procedures
for the financial period.

The Directors have established processes regarding internal control and risk management systems to ensure
effective oversight of the financial reporting process. These include appointing the Administrator, RBC Investor
Services Ireland Limited, to maintain the accounting records of the Company independently of the Manager and the
Custodian. The Administrator is contractually obliged to maintain proper books and records as required by the
administration agreement. To that end the Administrator performs regular reconciliations of its records to those of
the Manager and the Custodian.

The Directors have procedures in place to ensure all relevant books of account are properly maintained and are readily
available, including production of the annual and interim financial statements. The annual and interim financial
statements of the Company are required to be approved by the Directors of the Company and are required to be filed
with the Central Bank of Ireland. The annual financial statements are required to be audited by independent auditors
who report annually to the Directors on their findings.

The Directors liaise with the Company’s auditors and the Administrator in evaluating and discussing significant
accounting and reporting issues as the need arises. From time to time the Directors also examine and evaluate the
Administrator’s financial accounting and reporting routines and monitor and evaluate the external auditors’
performance, qualifications and independence. The Administrator has operating responsibility for internal control in
relation to the financial accounting process and the Administrator reports to the Directors.

The convening and conduct of shareholders’ meetings are governed by the Articles of Association of the Company
and the Companies Acts. Although the Directors may convene an extraordinary general meeting of the Company at
any time, the Directors are required to convene an annual general meeting of the Company within eighteen months of
incorporation and fifteen months of the date of the previous annual general meeting thereafter. Not less than twenty
one days’ notice of every annual general meeting and any meeting convened for the passing of a special resolution
must be given to shareholders and fourteen days’ notice must be given in the case of any other general meeting.

Two members, present either in person or by proxy, constitutes a quorum at a general meeting.


http://www.irishfunds.ie/

InRIS UCITS Plc

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Compliance Statement

The Company is required to include an annual compliance statement in the Directors’ report under section 225 of the
Companies Act 2014 (the “Act”).

The Directors:
e acknowledge their responsibility for ensuring compliance with the relevant obligations;

e confirm that a “compliance policy statement” has been drawn up setting out the Company’s policies with
regard to compliance with the relevant obligations;

e confirm that appropriate arrangements or structures have been put in place that are, in the Directors’ opinion,
designed to secure material compliance with the Company’s relevant obligations; and

e confirm that the Directors have reviewed, during the financial year, the effectiveness of the arrangements or
structures which have been put in place to secure such material compliance.

Approval of the Directors’ Report

Approved by the Board of Directors on 28 April 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

Matthew Williamson Henri Vernhes
Director Director
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InRIS UCITS Plc

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’ report and the financial statements in accordance with
the Companies Act 2014 and the applicable regulations.

Irish company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under the law, the
Directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Union (“relevant financial reporting framework”). Under company law, the
Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of
the assets, liabilities and financial position of the company as at the financial year end date and of the profit or loss
of the company for the financial year and otherwise comply with the Companies Act 2014.

In preparing those financial statements, the Directors are required to:
e select suitable accounting policies for the Company financial statements and then apply them consistently;
o make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
o state whether the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable accounting
standards, identify those standards, and note the effect and the reasons for any material departure from

those standards; and

e prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the company keeps or causes to be kept adequate accounting
records which correctly explain and record the transactions of the company, enable at any time the assets, liabilities,
financial position and profit or loss of the company to be determined with reasonable accuracy, enable them to
ensure that the financial statements and Directors’ report comply with the Companies Act 2014 and enable the
financial statements to be audited.

They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for
the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Approved by the Board of Directors on 28 April 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

Matthew Williamson Henri Vernhes
Director Director

11



InRIS UCITS Plc

MANAGER’S REPORT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

INRIS UCITS PLC - InRIS Parus
Inception date: 19 July 2013
Investment Strategy:

The objective of INRIS Parus is to generate absolute returns by using a long / short equity strategy. This strategy is
mostly long growth stocks and shorts companies with a structurally declining business. In order to achieve its investment
objective, InRIS Parus uses a bottom-up approach, emphasizing stock picking, based on in-house fundamental analysis
together with portfolio monitoring and risk control. INRIS Parus primarily invests directly or indirectly in equities but also
use financial derivative instruments (“FDIs”). InRIS Parus primarily invests in North America or Europe but may also
invest from time to time in other markets (including up to 20% of its net asset value in emerging markets). InRIS Parus
may take synthetic long and short positions through investments in FDIs.

InRIS Parus’ performance for the financial year ended 31 December 2022 was as follows:

InRIS Parus Class C Euro hedged 1.60%
InRIS Parus Class C USD 3.30%
InRIS Parus Class | CHF hedged 2.30%
InRIS Parus Class | Euro hedged 2.31%
InRIS Parus Class | Euro unhedged 9.41%
InRIS Parus Class | GBP hedged 3.53%
InRIS Parus Class | USD 3.79%
InRIS Parus Class X Euro hedged 2.68%
INRIS Parus Date Net asset value Netpae?ssehtavrzlue Numcti)recruc:;tlijg:s n
Class C Euro | 31/12/2021' 7,411,285.67 132.87 55,781
hedged 31/12/20222 12,777,267.81 135.00 94,644
31/12/20211 17,652,199.57 152.13 116,031
Class C USD
31/12/20222 17,283,481.47 157.15 109,982
Class | CHF 31/12/2021" 507,961.09 106.31 4,778
hedged 31/12/20222 859,255.48 108.75 7,901
Class | Euro 31/12/2021" 32,847,505.02 142.73 230,144
hedged 31/12/20222 47,013,221.72 146.03 321,933
Class | Euro 31/12/20211 4,754,679.77 179.31 26,516
unhedged 31/12/20222 6,244,334.77 196.19 31,828
Class | GBP 31/12/20211 23,765.62 111.68 213
hedged 31/12/20222 1,247,172.86 115.62 10,787
Class | USD 31/12/2021" 19,461,088.97 117.84 165,143
31/12/20222 21,386,851.71 122.31 174,864
X Euro 31/12/2021" 48,153,737.39 144.09 334,197
hedged 31/12/20222 77,739,834.78 147.95 525,446

Ithe final dealing NAV of the financial year was at 31 December 2021.
%the final dealing NAV of the financial year was at 31 December 2022.

12



INRIS UCITS Plc

MANAGER’S REPORT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

INRIS UCITS PLC - InRIS Parus (continued)

InRIS Parus Fund
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InRIS UCITS Plc

MANAGER’S REPORT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

INRIS UCITS PLC - InRIS CFM Diversified
Inception date: 11 December 2014
Investment Strategy:

InRIS CFM Diversified is a quantitative trading fund, meaning that it selects assets based on models and mathematical
formulas which are systematic in nature. INRIS CFM Diversified aims to achieve its investment objective by investing
according to the CFM Institutional Systematic Diversified Program (the “Program”) designed by CFM and adapted to
conform to UCITS Rules (currently by exclusion of commodities exposures and maodification of leverage). The Program
consists of a series of systematic trading models, as further described below. The Program deploys its strategy by
investing in FDIs, as specifically described below for each model. The models used by the Program apply proprietary
algorithms that seeks to predict the future prices and risks of financial instruments.

InRIS CFM Diversified’s performance for the financial year ended 31 December 2022 was as follows:

InRIS CFM Diversified Class C Euro 2.92%
INRIS CFM Diversified Class F Euro 2.69%
InRIS CFM Diversified Class | CHF hedged 3.11%
INRIS CFM Diversified Class | Euro 3.44%
InRIS CFM Diversified Class | GBP hedged 5.01%
InRIS CFM Diversified Class | USD hedged 5.00%
InRIS CFM Diversified Class M Euro 4.64%
INRIS CFM Diversified Class NC Euro 2.93%
INRIS CFM Diversified Class R Euro Redeemed

InRIS CFM Diversified Class S| Euro 3.75%

14



InRIS UCITS Plc

MANAGER’S REPORT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

INRIS UCITS PLC - InRIS CFM Diversified (continued)

InRIS CFM Net asset Number of units in
. . Date Net asset value value per . .
Diversified circulation
share
Class G E 31/12/2021" 2,355,914.04 79.57 29,610
ass uro
31/12/20222 1,135,389.02 81.90 13,864
Class F E 31/12/2021" 24,447.33 78.99 309
ass - =uro 31/12/20222 25.280.45 81.12 312
Class | CHF 31/12/2021" 124,987.59 78.66 1,589
hedged 31/12/20222 47,772.82 81.11 589
Class | E 31/12/2021" 4,195,344.14 88.33 47,498
ass uro
31/12/20222 436,393.47 91.37 4,776
Class | GBP 31/12/2021" 39,321.18 87.30 450
hedged 31/12/20222 16,683.54 91.67 182
Class | USD 31/12/2021" 255,337.81 91.63 2,787
hedged 31/12/20222 244,811.32 96.21 2,545
Class M E 31/12/2021" 2,372,866.76 95.76 24,780
ass M Euro 31/12/20222 5 288,287.58 100.20 52777
Class NC E 31/12/2021" 1,464,958.72 85.91 17,052
ass W Euro 31/12/20222 251.269.10 88.43 2841
Class R Euro? 31/12/2021" 451,946.58 91.69 4,929
31/12/20222 - - -
Class S| E 31/12/2021" 85,235,434.63 82.00 1,039,475
ass uro
31/12/20222 88,437,559.42 85.08 1,039,475

Notes:

lthe final dealing NAV of the financial year was at 31 December 2021.
2the final dealing NAV of the financial year was at 30 December 2022.

3Class R EUR fully redeemed on 30" September 2022.
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InRIS UCITS Plc

MANAGER’S REPORT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

INRIS UCITS PLC - InRIS Perdurance Market Neutral
Inception date: 11 October 2017
Investment Strategy:

The investment objective of INRIS Perdurance Market Neutral is to produce long term capital growth by investing in
a market neutral portfolio of primarily European equities while delivering low correlation to equity markets. InRIS
Perdurance Market Neutral seeks to achieve its investment objective by taking long and short positions in equity
securities of all types of market capitalization. InRIS Perdurance Market Neutral may invest directly in equities such
as common and preferred stocks listed or traded on a Recognised Exchange in developed European countries and
from time to time in other developed markets comprised in the MSCI World Index. InRIS Perdurance Market Neutral
may also seek indirect exposure to equity markets by investing in futures on equity indices, swaps on equity indices,
contracts for differences, swaps on single listed stocks, OTC swaps on customised equity portfolios (“Baskets”),
currency forwards and total return swaps as further described in the section below “Financial Instruments Derivatives”
in InRIS Perdurance Market Neutral’s offering supplement. InRIS Perdurance Market Neutral may also invest in
collective investment schemes and hold cash and other liquid assets for cash management purposes as further
described below.

InRIS Perdurance Market Neutral's performance for the financial year ended 31 December 2022 was as follows:

InRIS Perdurance Market Neutral Class C Euro 3.21%
InRIS Perdurance Market Neutral Class | Euro 3.73%
INRIS Perdurance Market Neutral Class NC Euro 3.47%
InRIS Perdurance Market Neutral Class NI Euro 3.98%
InRIS Perdurance Net asset value Number of units
Date Net asset value L. .
Market Neutral per share in circulation
ol CE 31/12/20211 4,259,075.58 75.77 56,211
r
ass L Euro 31/12/20222 458,684.90 78.20 5,865
31/12/20211 1,407,268.02 78.83 17,852
Class | Euro
31/12/20222 529,007.91 81.77 6,470
31/12/20211 1,081,286.86 77.95 13,871
Class NC Euro
31/12/20222 445,652.91 80.65 5,525
31/12/20211 9,600,611.77 79.30 121,071
Class NI Euro
31/12/20222 9,892,960.16 82.45 119,981

Ithe final dealing NAV of the financial year was at 31 December 2021.
2the final dealing NAV of the financial year was at 30 December 2022.
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MANAGER’S REPORT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

INRIS UCITS PLC - InRIS Perdurance Market Neutral (continued)

InRIS Perdurance Fund
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InRIS UCITS Plc

DEPOSITARY’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

We have enquired into the conduct of InRIS UCITS Plc (the “Company”) for the financial period from 1 January
2022 to 15 June 2022 in our capacity as Depositary to the Company.

This report including the opinion has been prepared for and solely for the shareholders in the Company as a body, in
accordance with Regulation 34, (1), (3) and (4) in Part 5 of the European Communities (Undertakings for Collective
Investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations 2011, as amended, (‘the UCITS Regulations’), and for no other
purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person
to whom this report is shown.

Responsibilities of the Depositary

Our duties and responsibilities are outlined in Regulation 34, (1), (3) and (4) in Part 5 of the UCITS Regulations.
One of those duties is to enquire into the conduct of the Company in each annual accounting period and report
thereon to the shareholders.

Our report shall state whether, in our opinion, the Company has been managed in that period in accordance with the
provisions of the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association and the UCITS Regulations. It is the overall
responsibility of the Company to comply with these provisions. If the Company has not so complied, we as Depositary
must state why this is the case and outline the steps which we have taken to rectify the situation.

Basis of Depositary Opinion

The Depositary conducts such reviews as it, in its reasonable opinion, considers necessary in order to comply with its
duties as outlined in Regulation 34, (1), (3) and (4) in Part 5 of the UCITS Regulations and to ensure that, in all material
respects, the Company has been managed (i) in accordance with the limitations imposed on its investment and borrowing
powers by the provisions of the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association and the UCITS Regulations and
(i) otherwise in accordance with the Company’s constitutional documentation and the appropriate regulations.

Opinion
In our opinion, the Company has been managed during the year, in all material respects:

(i) in accordance with the limitations imposed on the investment and borrowing powers of the Company
by the Memorandum & Articles of Association, the UCITS Regulations and the Central Bank
(Supervision and Enforcement) Act 2013 (Section 48(1)) (Undertakings for Collective Investment in
Transferable Securities) Regulations 2019 (‘the Central Bank UCITS Regulations’); and

(ii) otherwise in accordance with the provisions of the Memorandum & Articles of Association, the UCITS
Regulations and the Central Bank UCITS Regulations.

State Street Custodial Services (Ireland) Limited
78 Sir John Rogerson’s Quay

Dublin 2

Ireland

Date: 28 April 2023
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RBC Investor &
Treasury Services

$a

.

RBC

Report of the Depositary to the Shareholders
For the period 16 June 2022* to 31 December 2022

As required by the European Communities (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities)
Regulations 2011 (as amended) (“the Regulations”) and solely within the context of our oversight duties as
depositary, we are pleased to present our report as follows.

In our opinion, INRIS UCITS plc (the “Company”) has been managed for the period 16 June 2022 to 31 December
2022:

(i) In accordance with the limitations imposed on the investment and borrowing powers of the Company by the
Memorandum & Articles of Association and the Regulations; and

(ii) Otherwise in accordance with the provisions of the Memorandum & Articles of Association and the
Regulations.
RBC INVESTOR SERVICES BANK S.A. Date: 28 April 2023

DUBLIN BRANCH

*Effective date of appointment of RBC Investor Services Bank S.A. Dublin Branch as Depositary of the Company.

RBC Investor Services Bank S.A., RBC Investor Services Bank S.A., Dublin Branch
Dublin Branch is a branch of RBC Investor Services Bank S.A.
4% Floor, One George’s Quay Plaza Registered office: 14, Porte de France, L-4360 Esch-sur-Alzette, Luxembourg
George’s Quay Registered in Ireland 905449
Dublin 2, Ireland Incorporated in Luxembourg with Limited Liability

Registered in Luxembourg B 47 192
T +353 1 613 0400
F +353 1613 1198
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InRIS UCITS Plc

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF
INRIS UCITS PLC

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion on the financial statements of InRis UCITs plc (“the company”)
In our opinion the financial statements:

» give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the company as at 31 December
2022 and of the profit for the financial year then ended; and

* have been properly prepared in accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework, the applicable
Regulations and, in particular, with the requirements of the Companies Act 2014.

The financial statements we have audited comprise:

» the Statement of Comprehensive Income;

» the Statement of Financial Position;

» the Statement of Changes in Net Assets attributable to Participating Shareholders;

» the Statement of Cash Flows; and

» the related notes 1 to 27, including a summary of significant accounting policies as set out in note 3.

The relevant financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is the Companies Act 2014
and International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (“IFRS”) (“the relevant financial
reporting framework”).

The applicable regulations that have been applied in their preparation is the European Communities (Undertakings
for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations, 2011 and Central Bank (Supervision and
Enforcement) Act 2013 (Section 48(1)) (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities)
Regulations, 2019 (“the applicable Regulations”).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (ISAs (Ireland)) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are described below in the “Auditor's responsibilities for
the audit of the financial statements” section of our report.

We are independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the financial statements in Ireland, including the Ethical Standard issued by the Irish Auditing and Accounting
Supervisory Authority, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’' use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going

concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the
relevant sections of this report.
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InRIS UCITS Plc

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF
INRIS UCITS PLC (continued)

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements,
other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other
information contained within the Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements. Our opinion on the financial
statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report,
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are
required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors' Responsibilities , the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view and otherwise
comply with the Companies Act 2014, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs (Ireland) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on IAASA’s website
at: https://iaasa.ie/publications/description-of-the-auditors-responsibilities-for-the-audit-of-the-financial-statements.
This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2014
Based solely on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, we report that:

* We have obtained all the information and explanations which we consider necessary for the purposes of
our audit.

* In our opinion the accounting records of the company were sufficient to permit the financial statements to
be readily and properly audited.

* The financial statements are in agreement with the accounting records.

* In our opinion the information given in the directors’ report is consistent with the financial statements and
the directors’ report has been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2014.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Based on the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit,
we have not identified material misstatements in the directors' report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the provisions in the Companies Act 2014 which require us to report to you
if, in our opinion, the disclosures of directors’ remuneration and transactions specified by law are not made.
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InRIS UCITS Plc

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF
INRIS UCITS PLC (continued)

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s shareholders, as a body, in accordance with Section 391 of the
Companies Act 2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s shareholders
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s
shareholders as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

For and on behalf of Deloitte Ireland LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm
Deloitte & Touche House, 29 Earlsfort Terrace, Dublin 2
Date: 28 April 2023
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InRIS UCITS Plc

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2022

INRIS Perdurance

InRIS Parus INRIS CFM Diversified Market Neutral Total
31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2022
Note USD EUR EUR UsD
Assets
Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

Investments in Equity Instruments 17 66,788,354 - 10,506,790 78,001,721

Investments in Debt Instruments 17 98,130,653 43,748,139 - 144,820,834

Investments in Financial Derivative Instruments 17 2,503,186 10,516,466 9,540 13,737,061
Cash and Cash Equivalents 5 23,967,200 41,656,940 462,641 68,919,303
Balance Due from Brokers 6 6,910,269 20,378,959 411,836 29,099,235
Receivable for Fund Shares Sold 3 2,062,947 - 1 2,062,948
Other Receivables 24,474 821,572 101,724 1,038,941
Total Assets 200,387,083 117,158,460 11,483,395 337,680,043
Liabilities
Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss:

Investments in Financial Derivative Instruments 17 835,215 7,605,961 52,212 9,008,397
Bank Overdraft 5 92,318 9,098,612 814 9,803,676
Balance Due to Brokers 6 2,783,196 3,823,230 5 6,863,542
Payable for Fund Shares Purchased 3 - 10,244 - 10,933
Investment Management Fees Payable 1 775,219 264,736 23,143 1,082,458
Trading Advisor - Performance Fee Payable 1 1,136,988 - - 1,136,988
Depositary Fees Payable 8 8,348 5,593 6,575 21,334
Directors’ Fees Payable 18 5,816 3,735 449 10,281
Interest Payable - - - -
Other Payables and Accrued Expenses 207,197 475,599 73,891 793,641
Total Liabilities (Excluding Net Assets Attributable to
Participating Shareholders) 5,844,297 21,287,710 157,089 28,731,250
Net Assets Attributable to Participating Shareholders 194,542,786 95,870,750 11,326,306 308,948,793

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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InRIS UCITS Plc

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2022 (continued)

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 28 April 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

Henri Vernhes

Matthew Williamson
Director

Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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InRIS UCITS Plc

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2022 (continued)

InRIS Perdurance

INRIS Parus InRIS CFM Diversified Market Neutral Total
31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2021
Note USD EUR EUR USD
Assets
Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

Investments in Equity Instruments 17 106,619,002 - 15,536,198 124,286,762

Investments in Debt Instruments 17 - 57,826,753 - 65,760,568

Investments in Financial Derivative Instruments 17 3,053,975 10,012,365 161,787 14,624,018
Cash and Cash Equivalents 5 36,705,019 4,431,736 238,195 42,015,663
Balance Due from Brokers 6 12,711,759 125,555,267 5,575,444 161,833,569
Receivable for Securities Sold 5,415,528 11,278,824 26,2162,267 18,271,617
Receivable for Fund Shares Sold 3 - 44,073 168,400 52,698
Other Receivables 63,789 2,241,694 238,195 2,822,589
Total Assets 164,569,072 211,390,712 21,708,507 429,649,442
Liabilities
Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss:

Investments in Financial Derivative Instruments 17 1,347,644 6,921,287 785,740 10,112,073
Balance Due to Brokers 6 9,084,816 96,175,360 4,317,930 123,365,759
Payable for Securities Purchased 5,416,063 11,278,000 - 18,241,402
Payable for Fund Shares Purchased 3 1,129 201 977 2,469
Investment Management Fees Payable 11 146,528 112,632 26,233 304,445
Trading Advisor - Management Fees Payable 11 302,294 67,925 30,912 414,691
Trading Advisor - Performance Fee Payable 11 4,352,485 - - 4,352,485
Hedging Fees Payable 11 169 - - 169
Administration Fee Payable 8 72,980 84,198 54,608 230,830
Depositary Fees Payable 8 14,657 25,253 2,397 46,101
Transfer Agency Fee Payable 9 23,055 21,032 6,851 54,764
Fixed Consultant Fees Payable 12 4,809 11,225 4,192 22,341
Directors’ Fees Payable 18 22,975 17,572 13,286 58,067
Interest Payable 21,590 38,016 45,051 116,054
Other Payables and Accrued Expenses 105,181 145,107 72,087 352,174
Total Liabilities (Excluding Net Assets Attributable to
Participating Shareholders) 20,916,375 114,897,808 5,360,264 157,673,824
Net Assets Attributable to Participating Shareholders 143,652,697 96,492,904 16,348,243 271,975,618

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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InRIS UCITS Plc

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

InRIS Perdurance

InRIS Parus INRIS CFM Diversified Market Neutral Total
31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2022
Note uUsbD EUR EUR usD
Investment Income
Dividend Income 3 51,626 606,347 91,080 784,545
Interest Income on Cash and Cash Equivalents 3 333,940 - 2,232 336,286
Net Gain on Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or
Loss 7 30,606,983 7,443,939 1,618,480 40,130,582
Other Income 33,899 37,953 69,799 147,134
Net Investment Gain 31,026,448 8,088,239 1,781,591 41,398,547
Operating Expenses
Investment Management Fees 11 2,009,469 766,707 87,894 2,907,560
Interest Expense on Cash Balances - 61,274 - 64,392
Trading Advisor - Management Fees 11 730,805 176,287 24,281 941,580
Trading Advisor - Performance Fees 11 1,136,988 - - 1,136,988
Administration Fees 8 53,068 110,218 38,171 209,008
Depositary Fees 8 26,429 25,289 12,730 66,383
Legal Fees 89,197 41,346 - 132,647
Directors’ Fees 18 6,157 1,938 - 8,194
Other Operating Expenses 467,610 291,732 111,891 891,773
Total Operating Expenses 4,519,723 1,474,791 274,967 6,358,525
Finance Costs
Distribution Paid - - - -
Total Finance Costs - - - -
Operating Profit Before Withholding Tax 26,506,725 6,613,448 1,506,624 35,040,022
Withholding Tax 3 (68,922) (36,937) - (107,739)
Change in Net Assets Attributable to Participating
Shareholders from Operations 26,437,803 6,576,511 1,506,624 34,932,283

There were no gains or losses other than those dealt within the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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InRIS UCITS Plc

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

InRIS Parus INRIS CFM Diversified INRIS CFM Trends!
31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2021
Note UsD EUR USD

Investment Income
Dividend Income 3 1,112,257 - -
Interest Income on Cash and Cash Equivalents 3 - - -
Net Gain/(Loss) on Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss 7 19,617,459 13,313,067 (1,190,257)
Other Income 3,857 3,806 -
Net Investment Gain/(Loss) 20,733,573 13,316,873 (1,190,257)
Operating Expenses
Investment Management Fees 1 660,592 461,061 68,152
Trading Advisor - Management Fees 1 1,448,680 437,946 180,077
Trading Advisor - Performance Fees 1 4,352,485 - -
Hedging Fees 11 23,834 115 15,877
Administration Fees 8 116,789 158,074 41,507
Depositary Fees 8 45,897 30,072 7,348
Transfer Agent Fees 9 32,830 25,485 11,246
Distribution Fees 12 103,936 42,270 2,602
Fixed Consultant Fees 12 47,959 39,272 36,258
Variable Consultant Fees 12 130,838 123,521 52,717
Legal Fees 18,725 31,200 39,962
Directors’ Fees 18 44,457 34,868 18,353
Interest Expense on Cash Balances 75,870 461,088 -
Other Charges 126,846 269,470 183,609
Total Operating Expenses 7,229,738 2,114,442 657,708
Financial Costs
Distribution Paid - - 1,522,854
Total Finance Costs - - 1,522,854
Operating Profit/(Loss) Before Withholding Tax 13,503,835 11,202,431 (3,370,819)
Withholding Tax 3 (133,867) - -
Change in Net Assets Attributable to Participating Shareholders from
Operations 13,369,968 11,202,431 (3,370,819)

"Fully redeemed on 04 May 2021.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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InRIS UCITS Plc

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

INRIS Perdurance

Market Neutral InRIS Prenticel! Total
31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2021
Note EUR USD USD
Investment Income
Dividend Income 3 324,476 - 1,494,937
Interest Income on Cash and Cash Equivalents 3 46,402 2,026 56,752
Net (Loss)/Gain on Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss 7 (1,543,044) (243,987) 31,988,668
Other Income - 5,667 14,012
Net Investment (Loss)/Gain (1,172,166) (236,294) 33,554,369
Operating Expenses
Investment Management Fees 1 153,797 12,913 1,466,808
Trading Advisor - Management Fees 1 164,181 18,716 2,357,609
Trading Advisor - Performance Fees 1 - - 4,352,485
Hedging Fees 11 - 1,736 41,583
Administration Fees 8 84,681 3,267 447,864
Depositary Fees 8 21,260 824 114,609
Transfer Agent Fees 9 7,876 4,888 88,309
Distribution Fees 12 47,578 2,706 215,209
Fixed Consultant Fees 12 14,791 9,105 157,083
Variable Consultant Fees 12 35,328 61,253 432,151
Legal Fees 26,148 85,613 211,935
Directors’ Fees 18 23,208 29,181 160,485
Interest Expense on Cash Balances 22,958 - 570,874
Other Charges 80,387 127,533 850,602
Total Operating Expenses 682,193 357,735 11,467,606
Financial Costs
Distribution Paid - - 1,522,854
Total Finance Costs - - 1,522,854
Operating (Loss)/Profit Before Withholding Tax (1,854,359) (594,029) 20,563,909
Withholding Tax 3 136,044 5,562 32,142
Change in Net Assets Attributable to Participating Shareholders from
Operations (1,718,315) (588,467) 20,596,051

' Fully redeemed on 02 February 2021.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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InRIS UCITS Plc

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNITHOLDERS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

INRIS Perdurance

InRIS Parus InRIS CFM Diversified Market Neutral Total
31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2022
Note uUsD EUR EUR UsD
Operating Activities
Change in Net Assets Attributable to Participating Shareholders from
Operations 26,437,803 6,576,511 1,506,624 34,932,283
Capital Transactions
Issue of Shares during the Financial Year 60,409,032 3,436,799 98,195 64,123,919
Redemption of Shares during the Financial Year (35,956,746) (10,635,464) (6,626,756) (54,097,429)
Net Increase/(Decrease) in Net Assets Attributable to Participating
Shareholders from Capital Transactions 24,452,286 (7,198,665) (6,528,561) 10,026,490
Net Increase/(Decrease) in Net Assets Attributable to Participating
Shareholders in the Financial Year 50,890,089 (622,154) (5,021,937) 44 958,773
Net Asset Value Attributable to Participating Shareholders at the Beginning
of the Financial Year 143,652,697 96,492,904 16,348,243 271,975,618
Exchange Difference Due to the Presentation of the Financial Statements in
usbD 3(i) - - - (7,985,598)
Net Asset Value Attributable to Participating Shareholders at the End of
the Financial Year 194,542,786 95,870,750 11,326,306 308,948,793

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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InRIS UCITS Plc

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNITHOLDERS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

INRIS Parus INRIS CFM Diversified INRIS CFM Trends?
31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2021
Note USD EUR USD
Operating Activities
Change in Net Assets Attributable to Participating Shareholders from Operations 13,369,968 11,202,431 (3,370,819)
Capital Transactions
Issue of Shares during the Financial Year 25,812,966 1,478,176 16,319,847

Redemption of Shares during the Financial Year
Net Increase/(Decrease) in Net Assets Attributable to Participating
Shareholders from Capital Transactions

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Net Assets Attributable to Participating
Shareholders in the Financial Year

Net Asset Value Attributable to Participating Shareholders at the Beginning of the
Financial Year

Exchange Difference Due to the Presentation of the Financial Statements in USD

Net Asset Value Attributable to Participating Shareholders at the End of the
Financial Year

" Fully redeemed on 04 May 2021.

(20,114,729)

(23,087,109)

(174,410,878)

5,698,237 (21,608,933) (158,091,031)
19,068,205 (10,406,502) (161,461,850)

124,584,492 106,899,406 161,461,850

3(i) - - i
143,652,697 96,492,904 -

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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InRIS UCITS Plc

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNITHOLDERS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

INRIS Perdurance

Market Neutral InRIS Prentice! Total
31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2021
Note EUR UsD USD
Operating Activities
Change in Net Assets Attributable to Participating Shareholders from Operations (1,718,315) (588,467) 20,596,051
Capital Transactions
Issue of Shares during the Financial Year 4,163,969 10 48,787,052

Redemption of Shares during the Financial Year

(36,481,722)

(76,035,933)

(340,815,791)

Net Decrease in Net Assets Attributable to Participating Shareholders from
Capital Transactions

(32,317,753)

(76,035,923)

(292,028,739)

Net Decrease in Net Assets Attributable to Participating Shareholders in
the Financial Year

Net Asset Value Attributable to Participating Shareholders at the Beginning of the
Financial Year

Exchange Difference Due to the Presentation of the Financial Statements in USD  3(i)

Net Asset Value Attributable to Participating Shareholders at the End of the
Financial Year

' Fully redeemed on 02 February 2021.

(34,036,068) (76,624,390) (271,432,688)
50,384,311 76,624,390 555,115,211
- - (11,706,905)
16,348,243 - 271,975,618

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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InRIS UCITS Plc

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

INRIS CFM INRIS Perdurance
InRIS Parus Diversified Market Neutral Total
31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2022
UsD EUR EUR UsD

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Change in Net Assets Attributable to Participating Shareholders from Operations 26,437,803 6,576,511 1,506,624 34,932,283
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets attributable to participating shareholders
from operations to net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities
Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities
(Increase)/Decrease in Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (58,300,005) 14,078,614 5,029,408 (32,775,225)
Decrease/(Increase) in Derivative Financial Instruments 55,261 89,798 (574,082) (289,015)
Decrease in Balance Due from Brokers 5,801,490 105,176,308 5,163,608 132,734,334
Decrease in Receivable for Securities Sold 5,415,528 11,278,824 26,216 18,271,617
Decrease in Other Receivables 22,415 1,420,122 66,676 1,777,786
Decrease in Balance Due to Brokers (6,301,620) (92,352,130) (4,317,925) (116,502,217)
Decrease in Payable for Securities Purchased (5,416,063) (11,278,000) - (18,241,402)
(Decrease)/Increase in Total Fees Payables (2,933,156) 281,094 (149,621) (2,847,303)
Net Cash (Used in)/Provided by Operating Activities (35,218,347) 35,271,141 6,750,904 17,060,858
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Proceeds from Issuance of Shares 58,346,085 3,480,872 100,461 62,113,669
Payments for Redemption of Shares (35,957,875) (10,625,421) (6,627,733) (54,088,965)
Net Cash Provided by/(Used in) Financing Activities 22,388,210 (7,144,549) (6,527,272) 8,024,704
Net (Decrease)/Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents for the Financial Year (12,830,137) 28,126,592 223,632 25,085,562
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year 36,705,019 4,431,736 238,195 42,015,663
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Financial Year 23,874,882 32,558,328 461,827 67,101,225
Exchange Difference Due to the Presentation of the Financial Statements in USD - - - (7,985,598)
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Financial Year (Total) 23,874,882 32,558,328 461,827 59,115,627

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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InRIS UCITS Plc

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

INRIS CFM INRIS Perdurance

INRIS Parus Diversified Market Neutral Total
31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2022
UsD EUR EUR UsSD

Supplementary Information
Interest Received 324,407 (2,073) 22,045 347,677
Interest Paid - 41,345 1,936 60,114
Dividends Received 29,075 569,410 91,080 723,177

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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InRIS UCITS Plc

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

InRIS Parus InRIS CFM Diversified INRIS CFM Trends?
31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2021
UsD EUR UsD
Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Change in Net Assets Attributable to Participating Shareholders from Operations 13,369,968 11,202,431 (3,370,819)
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets attributable to participating shareholders from
operations to net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities
Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities
(Increase)/Decrease in Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (4,026,192) 1,252,190 -
(Increase)/Decrease in Derivative Financial Instruments (2,685,673) (3,669,683) 6,899,600
Decrease in Balance Due from Brokers 6,250,883 14,346,617 33,430,122
Increase in Receivable for Securities Sold (5,415,528) (11,278,824) -
Decrease/(Increase) in Other Receivables 164,857 (1,755,170) 720,810
Decrease in Balance Due to Brokers (1,491,573) (13,655,769) (3,994,984)
Increase in Payable for Securities Purchased 4,159,667 11,278,000 -
Increase/(Decrease) in Total Fees Payables 3,526,230 (294,614) (425,706)
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 13,852,639 7,425,178 33,259,023
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Proceeds from Issuance of Shares 25,812,966 1,434,103 16,419,859
Payments for Redemption of Shares (20,148,325) (23,341,987) (174,630,157)
Net Cash Provided by /(Used in) Financing Activities 5,664,641 (21,907,884) (158,210,298)
Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents for the Financial Year 19,517,280 (14,482,706) (124,951,275)
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year 17,187,739 18,914,442 124,951,275
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Financial Year 36,705,019 4,431,736 -
Exchange Difference Due to the Presentation of the Financial Statements in USD - - -
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Financial Year (Total) 36,705,019 4,431,736 -

" Fully redeemed on 04 May 2021.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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InRIS UCITS Plc

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

INRIS Parus INRIS CFM Diversified INRIS CFM Trends?
31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2021
UsD EUR UsSD

Supplementary Information
Interest Received - - -
Interest Paid - (423,072) -
Dividends Received 993,045 - -

" Fully redeemed on 04 May 2021.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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InRIS UCITS Plc

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

INRIS Perdurance

Market Neutral InRIS Prentice! Total
31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2021
EUR uUsD UsD
Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Change in Net Assets Attributable to Participating Shareholders from Operations (1,718,315) (588,467) 20,596,051
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets attributable to participating shareholders from
operations to net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities
Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities
Decrease in Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss 26,016,430 39,010,616 65,994,291
Increase in Derivative Financial Instruments (642,764) (630,445) (1,336,111)
Decrease in Balance Due from Brokers 2,091,522 14,773,940 73,145,830
(Increase)/Decrease in Receivable for Securities Sold (26,216) 2,268,778 (16,002,839)
Decrease/(Increase) in Other Receivables 385,978 47,735 (605,601)
Increase/(Decrease) in Balance Due to Brokers 3,924,081 (6,202,554) (22,755,984)
(Decrease)/Increase in Payable for Securities Purchased - (108,972) 16,876,034
Decrease in Total Fees Payables (110,866) (4,005,637) (1,366,225)
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 29,919,850 44,564,994 134,545,446
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Proceeds from Issuance of Shares 4,283,952 10 48,976,592
Payments for Redemption of Shares (36,495,641) (76,035,933) (341,385,679)

Net Cash Used in Financing Activities

Net Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents for the Financial Year

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Financial Year

Exchange Difference Due to the Presentation of the Financial Statements in USD

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Financial Year (Total)
" Fully redeemed on 02 February 2021.

(32,211,689)

(76,035,923)

(292,409,087)

(2,291,839) (31,470,929) (157,863,641)
2,530,034 31,470,929 199,664,931
238,195 - 41,801,290

) ; 214,373

238,195 - 42,015,663

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

INRIS Perdurance

Market Neutral InRIS Prentice! Total
31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2021
EUR UsD UsSD

Supplementary Information
Interest Received 19,003 2,026 2,026
Interest Paid - - (443,131)
Dividends Received 460,520 7,926 1,544,099

" Fully redeemed on 02 February 2021.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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InRIS UCITS Plc

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

1.

The Company

INRIS UCITS PlIc (the “Company”), whose registered office is located at 33 Sir John Rogerson’s Quay, Dublin 2,
Ireland is an investment company with variable capital and having segregated liability between its funds. The
Company was incorporated in Ireland on 9 May 2013 with limited liability under the Companies Act 2014 and
established as an Undertaking for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities (“UCITS”) pursuant to the
European Communities (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations, 2011 (S.1I.
No. 352 of 2011) (as amended) and S| No 230 of 2019 - Central Bank (Supervision and Enforcement) Act 2013
(Section 48(1)) (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations 2019 (together, the
“UCITS regulations”). The Company has been authorised by the Central Bank of Ireland as a UCITS pursuant to
the UCITS regulations.

The Company is structured as an umbrella fund and may consist of different funds each comprising one or more
classes of shares. The shares issued in each fund will rank pari passu with each other in all respects provided that
they may differ as to certain matters including currency of denomination, hedging strategies (if any applied to the
currency of a particular class), dividend policy, voting rights, the level of fees and expenses to be charged,
subscription or redemption procedures or the minimum subscription and minimum holding applicable, as set out in
the prospectus and/or relevant offering supplement as applicable. The assets of each Fund are invested separately
on behalf of each Fund in accordance with the investment objective and policies of each Fund. A separate portfolio
of assets is not maintained for each class.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2022, the Company had three active funds (the “Funds”):

Fund Name Date of Commencement
InRIS Parus 19 July 2013
InRIS CFM Diversified 11 December 2014
INRIS Perdurance Market Neutral 11 October 2017

InRIS CFM Trends and InRIS Prentice were fully redeemed on 4 May 2021 and 2 February 2021, respectively.
InRIS CFM Trends merged out to another platform on 4 May 2021.

The Company has appointed Alma Capital Investment Management S.A. (“ACIM” or the “Manager”), to perform
all duties related to the Management of the Company and each of the Funds, including the Distribution.

Prior to 15 June 2022, the administration of the Company was delegated to State Street Fund Services (Ireland)
Limited (the "Former Administrator") and State Street Custodial Services (Ireland) Limited was the depositary (the
"Former Depositary"). Since 15 June 2022, the Company appointed RBC Investor Services Ireland Limited as
administrator (the "Administrator") and RBC Investor Services Bank S.A. as depositary (the “Depositary”) in
accordance with UCITS Regulations. Since 15 June 2022, the Administrator has undertaken the role of the transfer
agent and registrar of the Company. Prior to this date, CACEIS Ireland Limited was the transfer agent of the
Company (the "Former Transfer Agent").

The Manager has entered into agreements with a number of Trading Advisors to manage the assets of the Funds
in accordance with their respective investment objectives and policies. InRIS Parus, InRIS CFM Diversified and
InRIS Perdurance Market Neutral each have one Trading Advisor. Further details in relation to the role of the
Trading Advisors is set out in note 11.

Capitalised terms are defined within the prospectus of the Company and/or the offering supplement of the Funds,
unless otherwise defined herein.
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InRIS UCITS Plc

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

1.

The Company (continued)

At 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, or during the financial year, the Company had no employees.
The Company’s shares are not listed on any securities exchange.

Basis of Preparation

a) Statement of Compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union and interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (“IASB”).

b) Basis of Measurement

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Irish Statute comprising the Companies Act 2014
under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of financial assets and liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss. Other financial assets and liabilities and non-financial assets and liabilities are stated at
amortised cost or redemption amount (participating shares). The financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis.

c) Functional and Presentation Currency

The financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (“USD”), which is the Company’s presentation
currency. Please refer to note 3(k) for details of each Funds functional currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to the
reporting currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign currency exchange differences arising
on translation and realised gains and losses on disposals or settlements of monetary assets and liabilities are
recognised as a component of net gain from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss and is not part
of the net asset value (“NAV”) of any sub-fund.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated
to the reporting currency at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates that the fair value was determined.

d) Comparatives

Comparative balances have been reclassified where necessary to conform to the current year presentation.
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InRIS UCITS Plc

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(&) Financial Instruments
(i) Classification

In accordance with IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”), the Company classifies its financial assets and
financial liabilities at initial recognition into the categories of financial assets and financial liabilities discussed
below.

In applying that classification, a financial asset or financial liability is considered to be held for trading if:

(a) Itis acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term; or

(b) Oninitial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and
for which, there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

(c) Iltis a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective
hedging instrument).

Financial Assets
The Company classifies its financial assets as subsequently measured at amortised cost or measured at fair value
through profit or loss on the basis of both:

e  The entity’s business model for managing the financial asset;
° The contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

Financial Assets Measured at Amortised Cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. The Company
includes in this category short-term non-financing receivables including restricted broker balances, accrued income
and other receivables.

Financial Assets Measured at Fair Value through Profit or Loss
A financial asset is measured at fair value through profit or loss if:

(a) Its contractual terms do not give rise to cash flows on specified dates that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding; or

(b) It is not held within a business model whose objective is either to collect contractual cash flows, or to both
collect contractual cash flows and sell; or

(c) Atinitial recognition, it is irrevocably designated as measured at fair value through profit or loss when doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise
from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases.
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InRIS UCITS Plc

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(a) Financial Instruments (continued)
(i) Classification (continued)

Financial Assets (continued)

The Company’s investment portfolio is managed and performance is evaluated on a fair value basis. The Company
is primarily focused on fair value information and uses that information to assess the assets’ performance and to
make decisions. The Company has not taken the option to irrevocably designate any equity securities as fair value
through other comprehensive income. The contractual cash flows of the Company’s debt securities are solely
principal and interest, however, these securities are neither held for the purpose of collecting contractual cash
flows nor held both for collecting contractual cash flows and for sale. The collection of contractual cash flows is
only incidental to achieving the Company’s business model's objective. Consequently, all investments are
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial Liabilities
Financial Liabilities Measured at Fair Value through Profit or Loss
A financial liability is measured at fair value through profit or loss if it meets the definition of held for trading.

Derivative contracts that have a negative fair value are presented as liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial Liabilities Measured at Amortised Cost
This category includes all financial liabilities, other than those measured at fair value through profit or loss. The
Company includes in this category short-term payables.

As such, the Company classifies all of its investment portfolio as financial assets or liabilities as fair value through
profit or loss.

The Company’s policy requires the Manager and the Board of Directors to evaluate the information about these
financial assets and liabilities on a fair value basis together with other related financial information.

(i) Recognition

The Company recognises financial assets and financial liabilities on the date it becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

A regular way purchase of financial assets is recognised using trade date accounting. From this date any gains or
losses arising from changes in fair value of the financial assets or liabilities are recorded in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.
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InRIS UCITS Plc

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

3.

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(a) Financial Instruments (continued)

(i) Measurement and Fair Value Measurement Principles
Initial Measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in the Statement
of Financial Position at fair value. All transaction costs for such instruments are recognised directly in profit or loss.

Financial assets and liabilities (other than those classified as at fair value through profit or loss) are measured
initially at their fair value plus any directly attributable incremental costs of acquisition or issue.

Subsequent Measurement

Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are re-
measured at fair value. Subsequent changes in the fair value of those financial instruments are recorded in net
gain/(loss) on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income.

Interest and dividends earned or paid on these instruments are recorded separately in interest revenue or expense
and dividend revenue or expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Financial assets, other than those classified as at fair value through profit or loss, are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method less any allowance for impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss when the financial assets are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

Financial liabilities arising on redeemable shares issued by the Company are measured at the redemption amount
representing the investors’ rights to a residual interest in the Company’s net assets. Financial liabilities that are not
at fair value through profit or loss are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised, as well as through the amortisation
process.

Fair Value Measurement Principles — General

When available, the Company measures the fair value of an instrument using quoted prices in an active market
for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an
exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual
and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The fair value of financial assets and liabilities
traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, trading securities and exchange-traded funds) are
based on the mid-price at the close of trading on the reporting date.

Fair Value Measurement Principles — Derivative Financial Instruments

For over-the-counter (“OTC”) derivatives, fair value is determined using pricing models that incorporate observable
market prices and the contractual prices of the underlying instruments, the time value of money, yield curves and
volatility factors as applicable. Fair value may be adjusted to take into account market, model and credit risks as
well as related costs.
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InRIS UCITS Plc

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

3.

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(a) Financial Instruments (continued)
(iv) Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or a part of a group of similar financial assets)
is derecognised where the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or the Company has
transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third party under a pass-through arrangement and the Company has:

(a) Transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset; or
(b) Neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control
of the asset.

When the Company has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset (or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement), and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the
asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Company’s continuing
involvement in the asset. In that case, the Company also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset
and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Company has
retained.

The Company derecognises a financial liability when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or
expired. On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the
consideration paid is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

(v) Offsetting Financial Instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amounts reported in the Statement of Financial Position,
when a current legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts exists and there is intent to settle on a
net basis or to settle the asset and the liability simultaneously.

(vi) Impairment

Financial assets that are measured at amortised cost are reviewed at each reporting date. The Company
applies the general approach in accordance with IFRS 9.

The Company measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses (“ECLS”) if
the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. If, at the reporting date, the credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Company shall measure the loss allowance at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

3.

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(a) Financial Instruments (continued)
(vi) Impairment (continued)

The Company’s approach to ECLs reflects a probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. Significant financial difficulties of the
counterparty, probability that the counterparty will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default in
payments are all considered indicators that a loss allowance may be required.

If the credit risk increases to the point that it is considered to be credit impaired, interest income will be calculated
based on the gross carrying amount adjusted for the loss allowance. A significant increase in credit risk is defined
by management as any contractual payment which is more than 45 days past due or if the credit rating of the
counterparty deteriorates to below investment grade. Any contractual payment which is more than 90 days past
due is considered credit impaired.

(b) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments
with maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject
to insignificant changes in value and are held for the purpose of meeting short term cash commitments rather
than for investment or other purposes.

(c) Contracts for Difference

Contracts for differences (“CFD”) are agreements between the Company and third parties, which allow the
Company to acquire an exposure to the price movement of specific securities without actually purchasing the
securities. Upon entering into a CFD, the Company is required to deposit with a broker an initial cash margin
equal to a certain percentage of the contract amount. Variation margin payments are made or received by the
Company depending upon the fluctuation in the value of the underlying securities.

The changes in contract values are recorded as unrealised gains or losses and the Company recognises a
realised gain or loss when the contract is closed or when offsetting contracts have been entered into. CFD’s are
considered closed and derecognised when the number of contracts bought long and sold short with the same
broker offset and as such only the cost/proceeds associated with the net position is reflected in these financial
statements.

(d) Forward Currency Contracts

A forward currency contract involves an obligation to purchase or sell a specific currency at a future date, at a
price set at the time the contract is made. Forward currency contracts will be valued by reference to the forward
price at which a new forward contract of the same size and maturity could be undertaken at the valuation date.
The unrealised gain or loss on open forward currency contracts is calculated as the difference between the
contract rate and this forward price, and are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position whilst the movement
in unrealised gain or loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

3.

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(e) Futures Contracts

A futures contract is an agreement between two parties to buy or sell a security, index or currency at a specific
price or rate at a future date. Upon entering into a futures contract, the Company is required to deposit with the
broker an amount of cash or cash equivalents equal to a certain percentage of the contract amount. This is known
as “initial cash margin”. Subsequent payments (“variation margin”) are made or received by the Company each
day, depending upon the daily fluctuation in the value of a contract. The daily changes in contract value are
recorded as change in unrealised gains or losses and the Company recognises a realised gain or loss when the
contract is closed or an offsetting position is taken. Unrealised gains and losses on futures contracts are
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position.

(f) Swaps

Swaps are contractual agreements between two parties to exchange streams of payments over time based on
specified notional amounts. Interest rate swaps relate to contracts taken out by the Company with major brokers
in which the Company either receives or pays a floating rate of interest in return for paying or receiving a fixed rate
of interest. The payment flows are usually netted against each other, with the difference being paid by one party to
the other. In a currency swap, the Company pays a specified amount in one currency and receives a specified
amount in another currency. Currency swaps are gross-settled.

(g9) Interest Income and Expense

Interest income and expense is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as it accrues, using the
historical effective interest rate of the asset or liability. Interest income includes the amortisation of any discount or
premium, transaction costs (in the case of financial instruments other than those classified at fair value through
profit or loss) or other differences between the initial carrying amount of an interest-bearing instrument and its
amount at maturity calculated on an effective interest rate basis.

(h) Dividend Income and Expense

Dividend income relating to exchange-traded equity securities bought long is recognised in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income on the ex-dividend date. Dividend income, interest received and capital gains may be
subject to non-recoverable withholding tax in the country of origin.

(i) Expenses

All expenses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on an accruals basis.

(1) Amounts Receivable for Fund Shares Sold and Amounts Payable for Fund Shares Purchased

Receivables on subscriptions and payables on redemptions represent amounts receivable and payable for
transactions contracted but not yet delivered.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(k) Foreign Currency Translation
The Funds

Iltems included in the financial statements of the Funds are measured and presented using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which it operates (the “functional currency”). The functional currency of InRIS
Parus is EUR.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to the
reporting currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign currency exchange differences arising
on translation and realised gains and losses on disposals or settlements of monetary assets and liabilities are
recognised as a component of net gain from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss and is not part
of the NAV of any sub-fund.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated
to the reporting currency at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates that the fair value was determined.

The Company

The functional currencies of the Funds of the Company are EUR or USD, reflecting the primary economic
environment in which each Fund operates. Both currencies are reflective of the economic environment in which
the Company operates and as such judgement is required in determining the appropriate functional currency. The
Company has adopted USD as its presentation currency.

Where Funds have a functional currency other than USD, those Funds’ financial position and performance is
translated from their functional currency to the Company’s presentation currency, as follows:

e assets and liabilities, including net assets attributable to participating shareholders, are translated at the
closing rate at each reporting date; and

e income and expenses for each Statement of Comprehensive Income and capital transactions are
translated at average exchange rates (unless the average rate is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses and
capital transactions are translated at the rates prevailing on the dates of each transaction).

Included in the Statement of Changes in Net Assets of the Company is an exchange difference due to the
presentation of the financial statements in USD. This arises as a result of the conversion of the EUR Funds from
their functional currency to the presentation currency of the Company as described above and has no impact on
the net asset value of each Fund.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

() Taxation

Under current law and practice, the Company qualifies as an investment undertaking as defined in Section 739B
of the Taxes Act. Under current Irish law and practice, on that basis, it is not chargeable to Irish tax on its income
and gains. However, tax can arise on the happening of a “chargeable event” in the Company. A chargeable event
includes any distribution payments to Shareholders or any encashment, redemption, cancellation or transfer of
Shares. A chargeable event also includes the appropriation or cancellation of Shares of a Shareholder by the
Company for the purposes of meeting the amount of appropriate tax payable on any gain arising on the transfer of
an entitlement to a Share.

To the extent that any tax arises on such a deemed chargeable event, such tax will be allowed as a credit against
any tax payable on the subsequent encashment, redemption, cancellation or transfer of the relevant Shares. No
tax will arise on the Company in respect of chargeable events in respect of a Shareholder who is neither Irish
Resident nor Irish Ordinarily Resident at the time of the chargeable event provided that the necessary signed
Relevant Declaration is in place and the Company is not in possession of any information which would reasonably
suggest that the information contained therein is not or, is no longer materially correct.

Dividend income, interest received and capital gains may be subject to non-recoverable withholding tax in the
country of origin.

(m) Participating Shares

All redeemable participating shares issued by the Company provide investors with the right to require redemption
for cash at the value proportionate to the investor’s share in the relevant Funds’ net assets at the redemption date.
In accordance with IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation, such instruments meet the definition of puttable
instruments. A puttable instrument may be classified as a financial liability or an equity instrument depending on
its features.

The Company has three active funds at 31 December 2022. The Funds have multiple share classes, which are
denominated in different currencies and to which different rates of distribution fees may apply. All classes of
participating shares are financial liability instruments by virtue of not having identical features and are measured
at the present value of the redemption amounts.

(n) Net Asset Value Attributable to Participating Shareholders

The liability to participating shareholders is presented in the Statement of Financial Position as “net asset value
attributable to participating shareholders” and is determined based on the residual assets of the Company after
deducting all other liabilities. The prices at which participating shares of the Funds’ may be issued or redeemed
are calculated by reference to the Funds’ net asset value (“NAV”) calculated in accordance with the prospectus of
the Company and the offering supplement of the Funds.

(o) Standards, Interpretations and Amendments to Published Standards that are Not Yet Effective

A number of new standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards have been issued to date
and are not yet effective for the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022, and
have not been applied nor early adopted in preparing these financial statements.

(p) Adoption of New and Amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations

There are no new standards, interpretations or amendments to existing standards that are effective for the year
beginning on or after 1 January 2023, that would have had a material impact on the financial statements of the
Company.
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4,

Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The preparation of these audited financial statements, in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU, requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expense. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment
within the next financial year, and the judgements that have been made in the process of applying the accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements, are

disclosed in note 3.

Therefore, the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise balances held with the Depositary, balances held in deposit accounts and
holdings in money market funds, which are held as cash equivalents, as disclosed in the below table:

31 December 2022

InRIS Parus

InRIS CFM Diversified
InRIS Perdurance
Market Neutral

31 December 2022

InRIS Parus

InRIS CFM Diversified
InRIS Perdurance
Market Neutral

31 December 2021

InRIS Parus

InRIS CFM Diversified
InRIS Perdurance
Market Neutral

Cash Held at
Depositary

10,699,771
7,150,564

452,149

Overdraft Held at
Depositary

92,318
12,800

134

Cash Held at
Depositary
USD 21,702,826
EUR 830,039

EUR 237,224

Cash Held in
Deposit Accounts

13,267,170"
34,506,376°

10,492

Overdraft Held in
Deposit Accounts

9,085,812

680

Cash Held in
Deposit Accounts

USD 15,001,937
EUR 3,601,6973

EUR 971

Investment in
Money Market Funds

259

Investment in
Money Market Funds

Investment in
Money Market Funds

USD 2562

Total Cash and
Cash Equivalents

23,967,200
41,656,940

462,641

Total Overdraft
92,318
9,098,612

814

Total Cash and
Cash Equivalents

USD 36,705,019
EUR 4,431,736

EUR 238,195

" InRIS Parus held an amount of USD 13,267,170 (31 December 2021: USD 15,001,937) in a cash deposit account with BNP

Paribas at 31 December 2022.

2 InRIS Parus held an investment in Blackrock Institutional Cash Series US Dollar Liquidity Fund - Core amounting to USD 259

(31 December 2021: USD 256) at 31 December 2022.

3 InRIS CFM Diversified held an amount of EUR 34,506,376 (31 December 2021: EUR 3,601,697) in a cash deposit account
with BNP Paribas at 31 December 2022.

RBC Investor Services Bank S.A., Dublin Branch is a wholly owned subsidiary of Royal Bank of Canada (“RBC”).
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6. Balance Due from/to Brokers
Due from brokers comprises cash deposited with the brokers. The due from brokers balances include both margin
cash and cash collateral held at the brokers at the reporting date. Margin cash represents cash deposited with the

brokers which may be collateralised against open positions.

The tables below detail amounts due from/(to) the Funds brokers at the reporting date:

InRIS Parus 31 December 31 December

2022 2021

USD USD
Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited - 3,924,141
Morgan Stanley & Co. International’ 6,910,269 8,787,618
Balance due from brokers 6,910,269 12,711,759
Morgan Stanley & Co. International (2,783,196) (9,084,816)
Balance due to brokers (2,783,196) (9,084,816)

" Balance includes cash collateral pledged. InRIS Parus has pledged a total cash collateral amount of USD 823 (31 December

2021: USD 3,924,141) to the counterparty at 31 December 2022.

INRIS CFM Diversified

31 December

31 December

2022 2021

EUR EUR
Barclays Bank Plc 7,269,139 68,696,799
Deutsche Bank AG - 20,727,358
JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A." 10,240,487 19,704,496
Morgan Stanley & Co. International’ 2,905,307 4,622,568
Nomura International Plc - 11,801,793
Balance due from brokers 20,414,933 125,555,267
Barclays Bank Plc (1,392,016) (53,598,277)
Deutsche Bank AG? - (19,757,908)
JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. (2,145,216) (12,653,220)
Morgan Stanley & Co. International (321,972) (180,353)
Nomura International Plc - (9,985,602)
Balance due to brokers (3,859,204) (96,175,360)

"Balance includes cash collateral pledged. InRIS CFM Diversified has pledged a total cash collateral amount of EUR 1,731,523

(31 December 2021: EUR 46,544,749) to the counterparties at 31 December 2022.

2 Balance includes cash collateral received. INRIS CFM Diversified has received a total cash collateral amount of EUR Nil (31

December 2021: EUR 668,763) from the counterparty at 31 December 2022.
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6.

Balance Due from/to Brokers (continued)

INRIS Perdurance Market Neutral 31 December

31 December

2022 2021

EUR EUR
Morgan Stanley & Co. International’ 356,053 575,870
UBS AG 55,783 4,999,597
Balance due from brokers 411,836 5,575,467
UBS AG? (5) (4,317,930)
Balance due to brokers (5) (4,317,930)

' Balance includes cash collateral pledged. InRIS Perdurance Market Neutral has pledged a total cash collateral amount of
EUR 2,305 (31 December 2021: EUR 791,131) to the counterparties at 31 December 2022.

2 Balance includes cash collateral received. InRIS Perdurance Market Neutral has received a total cash collateral amount of
EUR Nil (31 December 2021: EUR 4,294,290) from the counterparty at 31 December 2022.

The Funds may also post securities as collateral. At 31 December 2022, InRIS Parus has pledged securities, in
the form of US government bonds to Morgan Stanley, with a fair value of USD 64,596,020 (31 December 2021:
USD Nil). InRIS CFM Diversified has pledged securities, in the form of French government bonds to Morgan
Stanley, with a fair value of EUR 7,945,788 (31 December 2021: EUR 7,957,712). InRIS Perdurance has pledged
securities, in the form of EU listed equities to Morgan Stanley, with a fair value of EUR 5,705,859 (31 December
2021: EUR Nil).

7. Net Gains/(Losses) on Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

INRIS PARUS 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

EUR EUR
Net Realised Gains on investment in transferable securities 29,356,770 20,406,261
Net Realised Gains on investment in financial derivative instruments 35,425,618 1,127,220
Net Change in Unrealised (Losses)/Gains on investment in transferable securities (27,134,546) 2,716,985
Net Change in Unrealised (Losses)/Gains on investment in financial derivative instruments (653,903) 2,083,610
Net Change in Unrealised Losses on foreign exchange (6,386,956) (6,716,617)
Net Gains on Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss 30,606,983 19,617,459
INRIS CFM DIVERSIFIED 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

EUR EUR
Net Realised Losses on investment in transferable securities (401,672) (42,106,143)
Net Realised Gains on investment in financial derivative instruments 6,465,571 53,009,678
Net Change in Unrealised Losses on investment in transferable securities (48,309) (114,091)
Net Change in Unrealised Gains on investment in financial derivative instruments 240,452 2,229,600
Net Change in Unrealised Gains on foreign exchange 1,187,897 294,023
Net Gains on Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss 7,443,939 13,313,067
INRIS Perdurance Market Neutral 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

EUR EUR
Net Realised Gains on investment in transferable securities 873,567 7,898,634
Net Realised Gains/(Losses) on investment in financial derivative instruments 1,483,076 (8,084,415)
Net Change in Unrealised Losses on investment in transferable securities (1,323,217) (2,377,344)
Net Change in Unrealised Gains on investment in financial derivative instruments 573,402 642,764
Net Change in Unrealised Gains on foreign exchange 11,652 377,317
Net Gains/(Losses) on Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss 1,618,480 (1,543,044)
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8. Administrator and Depositary Fees

The Company has appointed the Administrator and Depositary pursuant to the Administration and Depositary
agreements, respectively.

The Administrator administers the day to day operations and business of the Company, including computing the
NAV and the NAV per Share and maintaining the books and records of the Company.

The Depositary acts as depositary of the assets of the Company. In its capacity as trustee, the Depositary also
performs certain functions of oversight and review. The Funds are subject to a combined administration and
depositary fee.

Pursuant to an administration agreement and depositary agreement, InRIS Parus paid to the Former Administrator
and Former Depositary the following maximum fees which were accrued and calculated at each valuation date
and were payable monthly in arrears for the period from 1 January 2022 to 14 June 2022:

NAYV of InRIS Parus Administration and Depositary Fee
From USD Nil to USD 249,999,999 0.08%
From USD 250,000,000 to USD 499,999,999 0.07%
From USD 500,000,000 to USD 749,999,999 0.06%
From USD 750,000,000 to USD 999,999,999 0.05%
From and above USD 1,000,000,000 0.04%

Effective 1 July 2018 up until 14 June 2022, the fees were subject to a minimum fee of USD 100,000 per annum
with the minimal annual charge discounted by 50% in year 1 and by 25% in year 2.

Dated 15 June 2022, the administration agreement and depositary agreement in place between the Funds and
RBC Investor Services Ireland Limited as Administrator and RBC Investor Services Bank S.A. as Depositary,
specifies INRIS Parus pays to the Administrator and the Depositary the following maximum fees which are accrued
and calculated at each valuation date and payable monthly in arrears:

NAV of InRIS Parus Administration and Depositary Fee
From EUR Nil to EUR 2,000,000,000 0.10%
From EUR 2,000,000,001 to EUR 4,000,000,000 0.08%
From EUR 4,000,000,001 to EUR 10,000,000,000 0.07%
From and above EUR 10,000,000,001 0.06%

The fees are subject to a minimum fee of EUR 50,000 per annum.

During the financial year, InRIS Parus incurred administration fees of USD 53,068 (31 December 2021: USD
116,789) and depositary fees of USD 26,429 (31 December 2021: USD 45,897). At 31 December 2022,
administration fees payable amounted to USD Nil (31 December 2021: USD 72,980) and depositary fees payable
amounted to USD 8,348 (31 December 2021: USD 14,657).
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7. Administrator and Depositary Fees (continued)

Pursuant to an administration agreement and depositary agreement, InRIS CFM Diversified paid to the Former
Administrator and Former Depositary the following maximum fees which were accrued and calculated at each
valuation date and were payable monthly in arrears for the period from 1 January 2022 to 14 June 2022:

NAV of InRIS CFM Diversified Administration and Depositary Fee
From USD Nil to USD 249,999,999 0.085%
From USD 250,000,000 to USD 499,999,999 0.08%
From USD 500,000,000 to USD 749,999,999 0.075%
From USD 750,000,000 to USD 999,999,999 0.075%
From and above USD 1,000,000,000 0.07%

Effective 1 July 2018 up until 14 June 2022, the fees were subject to a minimum fee of USD 150,000 per annum
with the minimal annual charge discounted by 75% in year 1 and by 25% in year 2.

Dated 15 June 2022, the Administration Agreement and Depositary Agreement in place between the Funds and
RBC Investor Services Ireland Limited as Administrator and RBC Investor Services Bank S.A. as Depositary,
specifies InRIS CFM Diversified pays to the Administrator and the Depositary the following maximum fees which
are accrued and calculated at each valuation date and payable monthly in arrears:

NAV of InRIS CFM Diversified Administration and Depositary Fee
From EUR Nil to EUR 2,000,000,000 0.11%
From EUR 2,000,000,001 to EUR 4,000,000,000 0.09%
From EUR 4,000,000,001 to EUR 10,000,000,000 0.08%
From and above EUR 10,000,000,001 0.07%

The fees are subject to a minimum fee of EUR 75,000 per annum.

During the financial year, InRIS CFM Diversified incurred administration fees of EUR 110,218 (31 December
2021: EUR 158,074) and depositary fees of EUR 25,289 (31 December 2021: EUR 30,072). At 31 December
2022, administration fees payable amounted to EUR Nil (31 December 2021: EUR 84,198) and depositary fees
payable amounted to EUR 5,593 (31 December 2021: EUR 25,253).

Pursuant to an amended administration and depositary agreement, InRIS CFM Trends paid to the Former
Administrator and to the Former Depositary the following maximum fees which were accrued and calculated at
each valuation date and payable monthly in arrears:

NAV of InRIS CFM Trends Administration and Depositary Fee
From USD Nil to USD 249,999,999 0.08%
From USD 250,000,000 to USD 499,999,999 0.07%
From USD 500,000,000 to USD 749,999,999 0.06%
From USD 750,000,000 to USD 999,999,999 0.05%
From and above USD 1,000,000,000 0.04%
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8. Administrator and Depositary Fees (continued)

The fees were subject to a minimum fee of USD 100,000 per annum with the minimal annual charge discounted
by 50% in year 1 and by 25% in year 2.

INRIS CFM Trends was fully redeemed on 4 May 2021 and merged out to another platform on 4 May 2021.
During the financial year ended 31 December 2021, InRIS CFM Trends incurred administration fees of USD
41,507 and depositary fees of USD 7,348.

Pursuant to an administration agreement and depositary agreement, InRIS Perdurance paid to the Former
Administrator and Former Depositary the following maximum fees which were accrued and calculated at each
valuation date and were payable monthly in arrears for the period from 1 January 2022 to 14 June 2022:

NAYV of InRIS Perdurance Market Neutral Administration and Depositary Fee
From USD Nil to USD 249,999,999 0.08%
From USD 250,000,000 to USD 499,999,999 0.07%
From USD 500,000,000 to USD 749,999,999 0.06%
From USD 750,000,000 to USD 999,999,999 0.05%
From and above USD 1,000,000,000 0.04%

Effective 1 July 2018 until 14 June 2022, the fees were subject to a minimum fee of USD 100,000 per annum
with the minimal annual charge discounted by 50% in year 1 and by 25% in year 2.

Dated 15 June 2022, the Administration Agreement and Depositary Agreement in place between the Funds and
RBC Investor Services Ireland Limited as Administrator and RBC Investor Services Bank S.A. as Depositary,
specifies InRIS Perdurance Market Neutral pays to the Administrator and the Depositary the following maximum
fees which are accrued and calculated at each valuation date and payable monthly in arrears:

NAV of InRIS Perdurance Market Neutral Administration and Depositary Fee
From EUR Nil to EUR 2,000,000,000 0.10%
From EUR 2,000,000,001 to EUR 4,000,000,000 0.08%
From EUR 4,000,000,001 to EUR 10,000,000,000 0.07%
From and above EUR 10,000,000,001 0.06%

The fees are subject to a minimum fee of EUR 75,000 per annum.

During the financial year, InRIS Perdurance Market Neutral incurred administration fees of EUR 38,171 (31
December 2021: EUR 84,681) and depositary fees of EUR 12,730 (31 December 2021: EUR 21,260). At 31
December 2022, administration fees payable amounted to EUR Nil (31 December 2021: EUR 54,608) and
depositary fees payable amounted to EUR 6,575 (31 December 2021: EUR 2,397).

Pursuant to an administration agreement and depositary agreement, InRIS Prentice paid to the Former
Administrator and to the Former Depositary the following maximum fees which were accrued and calculated at
each valuation date and payable monthly in arrears:
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NAV of InRIS Prentice Administration and Depositary Fee
From USD Nil to USD 249,999,999 0.096%
From USD 250,000,000 to USD 499,999,999 0.086%
From USD 500,000,000 to USD 749,999,999 0.076%
From USD 750,000,000 to USD 999,999,999 0.066%
From and above USD 1,000,000,000 0.056%

The fees were subject to a minimum fee of USD 50,000 for the first twelve months following the launch of the Fund,
USD 75,000 for the period between the twelfth and twenty-fourth months following the launch of the Fund, and USD
100,000 per annum thereafter.

INRIS Prentice was fully redeemed on 2 February 2021. During the financial year ended 31 December 2021,
INRIS Prentice incurred administration fees of USD Nil and depositary fees of USD Nil.

The fees for the Funds are accrued and calculated each valuation date and payable monthly in arrears. The
Administrator and Depositary are also entitled to be repaid all of their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses properly
incurred by them in the performance of their duties and responsibilities under the administration and depositary
agreements.

9. Transfer Agent Fees

The fees payable to the Former Transfer Agent under the registrar and transfer agency agreement comprised a
maximum aggregate fee of 0.025% per annum of the NAV of the Company, accrued and calculated as at the
relevant Valuation Point, together with any VAT, if applicable, payable monthly in arrears. The Transfer Agent
was also entitled to be repaid all of their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses properly incurred by each of them
respectively, in the performance of their respective duties and responsibilities under the transfer agency
agreement. Since 15 June 2022, the Administrator has undertaken the role of the transfer agent and registrar of
the each of the Funds and has ceased to charge transfer agent fees.

Transfer agent fees incurred by Fund during the financial year is as follows:

Financial year ended Financial year ended

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

InRIS Parus - USD 32,830
InRIS CFM Diversified - EUR 25,485
InRIS Perdurance Market Neutral - EUR 7,876

Transfer agent fees payable by Fund at the reporting date is as follows:

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

InRIS Parus - USD 23,055
InRIS CFM Diversified - EUR 21,032
InRIS Perdurance Market Neutral - EUR 6,851
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10.

Financial Management Fee

The Funds incur a Financial Management Fee which is accrued at each valuation point. The Financial Management
Fee consists of fees payable to the Manager and the Trading Advisor.

The maximum aggregate annual Financial Management Fee consists of a percentage of the net assets of each
class in InRIS Parus, InRIS CFM Diversified, INnRIS CFM Trends, InRIS Perdurance Market Neutral and InRIS

Prentice as disclosed below.

Fund

InRIS Parus

InRIS CFM Diversified

Class Maximum aggregate

Financial Management Fee
Class C CHF hedged 2.30%
Class C Euro hedged 2.30%
Class C Euro unhedged 2.30%
Class C GBP hedged 2.30%
Class C USD 2.30%
Class | CHF hedged 1.65%
Class | Euro hedged 1.65%
Class | Euro unhedged 1.65%
Class | GBP hedged 1.65%
Class | USD 1.65%
Class S| Euro hedged 1.50%
Class X Euro hedged 1.50%
Class C CHF hedged 1.80%
Class C Euro 1.80%
Class C JPY hedged 1.80%
Class C USD hedged 1.80%
Class F Euro 2.05%
Class G AUD hedged 0.275%
Class G Euro 0.275%
Class | CHF hedged 1.30%
Class | Euro 1.30%
Class 12 Euro 1.65%
Class | GBP hedged 1.30%
Class | JPY hedged 1.30%
Class | USD hedged 1.30%
Class M Euro 0.275%
Class NC Euro 1.80%
Class NI Euro 1.30%
Class NI GBP hedged 1.30%
Class R Euro 0.275%
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Fund Class Maximum aggregate
Financial Management Fee

InRIS CFM Diversified (continued) Class SI CHF hedged 1.00%
Class Sl Euro 1.00%

Class SI GBP hedged 1.00%

Class SI USD hedged 1.00%

Class SI2 Euro 1.35%

InRIS CFM Trends Class C CHF hedged 1.25%
(Fully redeemed on 4 May 2021 Class C Euro hedged 1.25%
and merged out to another platform  Class C JPY hedged 1.25%
on 4 May 2021) Class C USD 1.25%
Class F Euro hedged 1.50%

Class | CHF hedged 0.75%

Class | Euro hedged 0.75%

Class 12 Euro hedged 0.95%

Class | GBP hedged 0.75%

Class | JPY hedged 0.75%

Class | USD 0.75%

Class M Euro hedged 0.10%

Class NC Euro hedged 1.25%

Class NI CHF hedged 0.75%

Class NI Euro hedged 0.75%

Class NI GBP hedged 0.75%

Class NI USD 0.75%

Class Sl Euro hedged 0.55%

Class SI USD 0.55%

Class SI2 Euro hedged 0.75%

Class SI2 USD 0.75%

Class SSI Euro hedged 0.45%

Class SSI USD 0.45%

Class SSI2 Euro hedged 0.65%

Class SSI2 USD 0.65%

Class W CHF hedged 0.75%

Class WD Euro hedged 0.75%

Class WD GBP hedged 0.75%

Class WD USD 0.75%
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Fund Class Maximum aggregate
Financial Management Fee

InRIS Perdurance Class C Euro 1.50%
Market Neutral Class C USD hedged 1.50%
Class D Euro 1.50%

Class F Euro 1.75%

Class | CHF hedged 1.00%

Class | Euro 1.00%

Class | GBP hedged 1.00%

Class ID GBP hedged 1.00%

Class | USD hedged 1.00%

Class NC Euro 1.25%

Class NI Euro 0.75%

Class NI GBP hedged 0.75%

Class NID GBP hedged 0.75%

Class NI USD hedged 0.75%

InRIS Prentice Class C CHF hedged 2.00%
(Fully redeemed on 2 February Class C Euro hedged 2.00%
2021) Class C USD 2.00%
Class F Euro hedged 2.25%

Class | CHF hedged 1.50%

Class | Euro hedged 1.50%

Class | GBP hedged 1.50%

Class | USD 1.50%

Class M Euro hedged 0.25%

Class M USD 0.25%

Class NI Euro hedged 1.10%

Class NI USD 1.10%

Class X Euro hedged 1.10%

Class X USD 1.10%

The maximum annual fees payable to the Manager and the Trading Advisor are disclosed in note 11. Refer to
note 12 for details on distribution fees, fixed consultant fees and variable consultant fees payable to the
Distributor/Consultant.
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11.

Manager and Trading Advisor Fees

The Manager, Alma Capital Investment Management S.A., is responsible for the management of the investment
of the assets of the Company in accordance with the investment objectives and policies described in the
prospectus. The Manager is authorised and regulated by the Central Bank of Ireland.

The Manager has appointed Parus Finance (UK) Limited, Capital Fund Management S.A. and Perdurance Asset
Management Limited as Trading Advisors to manage the assets of InRIS Parus, InRIS CFM Diversified and
INRIS Perdurance Market Neutral, respectively, in accordance with the investment objectives and policies of the
Funds.

Capital Fund Management S.A. and Prentice Capital Management, L.P. were Trading Advisors to InRIS CFM
Trends and InRIS Prentice, respectively, prior to these trading advisor agreements being terminated during the
year ended 31 December 2021.

Manager Remuneration

Pursuant to an investment management agreement, the maximum annual fee payable to the Manager consists
of a percentage of the net assets of each class in InRIS Parus, InNRIS CFM Diversified, InRIS CFM Trends, InRIS

Perdurance Market Neutral and InRIS Prentice as disclosed below.

The Manager fees are paid monthly in arrears.

Fund Class Maximum Annual
Manager Fee

InRIS Parus Class C CHF hedged 0.25%
Class C Euro hedged 0.25%

Class C Euro unhedged 0.25%

Class C GBP hedged 0.25%

Class C USD 0.25%

Class | CHF hedged 0.25%

Class | Euro hedged 0.25%

Class | Euro unhedged 0.25%

Class | GBP hedged 0.25%

Class | USD 0.25%

Class Sl Euro hedged 0.25%

Class X Euro hedged 0.25%
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11. Manager and Trading Advisor Fees (continued)

Manager Remuneration (continued)

Fund Class

InRIS CFM Diversified Class C CHF hedged
Class C Euro
Class C JPY hedged

Class C USD hedged
Class F Euro

Class G AUD hedged
Class G Euro

Class | CHF hedged
Class | Euro

Class 12 Euro

Class | GBP hedged
Class | JPY hedged
Class | USD hedged
Class M Euro

Class NC Euro

Class NI Euro

Class NI GBP hedged
Class R Euro

Class S| CHF hedged
Class Sl Euro

Class S| GBP hedged
Class SI USD hedged
Class SI2 Euro

Maximum Annual
Manager Fee

0.275%"
0.275%
0.275%"
0.275%"
0.275%"
0.275%
0.275%
0.275%"
0.275%"
0.275%"
0.275%"
0.275%"
0.275%"
0.15% - 0.28%?
0.275%
0.275%
0.275%
0.275%
0.15%
0.15%
0.15%
0.15%
0.15%

' Effective 2 September 2020, where the total fees paid by the Company to the Manager for the previous quarter were less
than USD 800,000, the Maximum Annual Manager Fee for Class C CHF hedged, Class C JPY hedged, Class C USD
hedged, Class F Euro, Class | CHF hedged, Class | Euro, Class |12 Euro, Class | GBP hedged, Class | JPY hedged and
Class | USD hedged is increased to 0.325%. Where the total fees paid by the Company to the Manager for the previous
quarter were higher than USD 800,000, the Maximum Annual Manager Fee of each of the share classes remains at 0.275%.

2 Class M Euro within InRIS CFM Diversified is charged at a sliding scale rate, from 0.15% per annum of the net assets of the
class when the assets under management (“AUM”) are under EUR 30,000,000; 0.28% per annum of the net assets of the
class when the AUM is between EUR 30,000,001 and EUR 200,000,000; 0.20% per annum of the net assets of the class
when the AUM is between EUR 200,000,001 and EUR 300,000,000 and 0.15% per annum of the net assets of the class

when the AUM is above EUR 300,000,001.
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Manager Remuneration (continued)

Fund

InRIS CFM Trends
(Fully redeemed on 4 May 2021
and merged out to another platform

on 4 May 2021)

Class

Class C CHF hedged
Class C Euro hedged
Class C JPY hedged
Class C USD

Class F Euro hedged
Class | CHF hedged
Class | Euro hedged
Class 12 Euro hedged
Class | GBP hedged
Class | JPY hedged
Class | USD

Class M Euro hedged
Class NC Euro hedged
Class NI CHF hedged
Class NI Euro hedged
Class NI GBP hedged
Class NI USD

Class Sl Euro hedged
Class SI USD

Class SI2 Euro hedged
Class SI2 USD

Class SSI Euro hedged
Class SSI USD

Class SSI2 Euro hedged
Class SSI2 USD

Class W CHF hedged
Class WD Euro hedged
Class WD GBP hedged
Class WD USD

Maximum Annual
Manager Fee

0.15%
0.15%
0.15%
0.15%
0.15%
0.15%
0.15%
0.15%
0.15%
0.15%
0.15%
0.10% - 0.15%"
0.15%
0.15%
0.15%
0.15%
0.15%
0.105%
0.105%
0.105%
0.105%
0.105%
0.105%
0.105%
0.105%
0.15%
0.15%
0.15%
0.15%

' Class M Euro hedged within InRIS CFM Trends was charged at a sliding scale rate, from 0.10% per annum of the net assets
of the class when the AUM was under USD 30,000,000 and 0.15% per annum of the net assets of the class when the AUM

was above USD 30,000,001.
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11. Manager and Trading Advisor Fees (continued)

Manager remuneration (continued)

Fund

InRIS CFM Diversified

Class

Class C CHF hedged
Class C Euro

Class C JPY hedged
Class C USD hedged
Class F Euro

Class G AUD hedged
Class G Euro

Class | CHF hedged
Class | Euro

Class |12 Euro

Class | GBP hedged
Class | JPY hedged
Class | USD hedged
Class M Euro

Class NC Euro

Class NI Euro

Class NI GBP hedged
Class R Euro

Class S| CHF hedged
Class Sl Euro

Class S| GBP hedged
Class SI USD hedged
Class SI2 Euro

Maximum Annual
Manager Fee
0.275%"
0.275%
0.275%"
0.275%"
0.275%"
0.275%
0.275%
0.275%"
0.275%"
0.275%"
0.275%"
0.275%"
0.275%"
0.15% - 0.28%2
0.275%
0.275%
0.275%
0.275%
0.15%

0.15%

0.15%

0.15%

0.15%
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11. Manager and Trading Advisor Fees (continued)

Manager Remuneration (continued)

Fund Class
InRIS Perdurance Class C Euro
Market Neutral Class C USD hedged

Class D Euro

Class F Euro

Class | CHF hedged
Class | Euro

Class | GBP hedged
Class ID GBP hedged
Class | USD hedged
Class NC Euro

Class NI Euro

Class NI GBP hedged
Class NID GBP hedged
Class NI USD hedged

InRIS Prentice Class C CHF hedged
(Fully redeemed on 2 February Class C Euro hedged
2021) Class C USD

Class F Euro hedged
Class | CHF hedged
Class | Euro hedged
Class | GBP hedged
Class | USD

Class M Euro hedged
Class M USD

Class NI Euro hedged
Class NI USD

Class X Euro hedged
Class X USD

Manager fees incurred by Fund during the financial year is as follows:

Financial Year Ended
31 December

2022
InRIS Parus USD 2,009,469
InRIS CFM Diversified EUR 766,707
InRIS Perdurance Market Neutral EUR 87,894

Maximum Annual
Manager Fee

0.20%
0.20%
0.20%
0.20%
0.20%
0.20%
0.20%
0.20%
0.20%
0.20%
0.20%
0.20%
0.20%
0.20%

0.25%
0.25%
0.25%
0.25%
0.25%
0.25%
0.25%
0.25%
0.25%
0.25%
0.25%
0.25%
0.20%
0.20%

Financial Year Ended
31 December
2021

USD 660,592
EUR 461,061
EUR 153,797
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11. Manager and Trading Advisor Fees (continued)

Manager Remuneration (continued)

Manager fees payable by Fund at the reporting date is as follows:

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

InRIS Parus USD 775,219 USD 146,528
InRIS CFM Diversified EUR 264,736 EUR 112,632
INRIS Perdurance Market Neutral EUR 23,143 EUR 26,233

For the period from 1 January 2021 to 31 May 2021, hedged share classes were subject to a hedging fee. The
hedging fee was payable to the Manager at a rate of 0.06% per annum of the net assets of the hedged class.
Only 50% of the hedging fee was charged on the first 100 million in aggregate of the Class W CHF hedged, Class
WD Euro hedged and Class WD GBP hedged share classes of INRIS CFM Trends. From 1 June 2021, hedged
share classes are no longer subject to a hedging fee, instead they are charged through the spread they are
exposed to as transactions costs.

Hedging fees incurred by the Funds during the financial year is as follows:

Financial Year Ended Financial Year Ended

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

InRIS Parus - USD 23,834
InRIS CFM Diversified - EUR 115
InRIS CFM Trends - usD 15,877"
InRIS Prentice - uUsD 1,7362

" For the period from 1 January 2021 to 4 May 2021. InRIS CFM Trends was fully redeemed on 4 May 2021 and merged out
to another platform on 4 May 2021.
2 For the period from 1 January 2021 to 2 February 2021. InRIS Prentice was fully redeemed on 2 February 2021.

Hedging fees payable by Fund at the reporting date is as follows:

31 December 31 December
2022 2021
InRIS Parus - USD 169
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11. Manager and Trading Advisor Fees (continued)
Trading Advisor Remuneration — Management Fees
Pursuant to the trading advisor agreements, the maximum annual management fee payable to the Trading
Advisors consists of a percentage of the net assets of each class in InRIS Parus, InNRIS CFM Diversified and

InRIS Perdurance Market Neutral as disclosed below.

The Trading Advisor management fees are calculated daily and payable monthly or quarterly in arrears.

Fund Class Maximum Annual
Trading Advisor - Management Fee

InRIS Parus Class C CHF hedged 1.20%
Class C Euro hedged 1.20%
Class C Euro unhedged 1.20%
Class C GBP hedged 1.20%
Class C USD 1.20%
Class | CHF hedged 1.10%
Class | Euro hedged 1.10%
Class | Euro unhedged 1.10%
Class | GBP hedged 1.10%
Class | USD 1.10%
Class S| Euro hedged 1.00%
Class X Euro hedged 1.00%
INRIS CFM Diversified Class C CHF hedged 0.65%
Class C Euro 0.65%
Class C JPY hedged 0.65%
Class C USD hedged 0.65%
Class F Euro 0.65%
Class G AUD hedged N/A
Class G Euro N/A
Class | CHF hedged 0.65%
Class | Euro 0.65%
Class 12 Euro 1.00%
Class | GBP hedged 0.65%
Class | JPY hedged 0.65%
Class | USD hedged 0.65%
Class M Euro N/A
Class NC Euro 0.65%
Class NI Euro 0.65%
Class NI GBP hedged 0.65%
Class R Euro N/A

* N/A = Not applicable
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11. Manager and Trading Advisor Fees (continued)
Trading Advisor Remuneration — Management Fees (continued)

Fund Class

Maximum Annual
Trading Advisor - Management Fee

InRIS CFM Diversified (continued) Class SI CHF hedged 0.40%
Class Sl Euro 0.40%
Class S| GBP hedged 0.40%
Class SI USD hedged 0.40%
Class SI2 Euro 0.75%
InRIS Perdurance Class C Euro 0.40%
Market Neutral Class C USD hedged 0.40%
Class D Euro 0.40%
Class F Euro 0.40%
Class | CHF hedged 0.40%
Class | Euro 0.40%
Class | GBP hedged 0.40%
Class ID GBP hedged 0.40%
Class | USD hedged 0.40%
Class NC Euro 0.25%
Class ND Euro 0.25%
Class NI Euro 0.25%
Class NI GBP hedged 0.25%
Class NID GBP hedged 0.25%
Class NI USD hedged 0.25%
Trading advisor - management fees incurred by Fund during the financial year is as follows:
Financial Year Ended Financial Year Ended
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
InRIS Parus USD 730,805 USD 1,448,680
InRIS CFM Diversified EUR 176,287 EUR 437,946
INRIS Perdurance Market Neutral EUR 24,281 EUR 164,181
Trading advisor - management fees payable by Fund at the reporting date is as follows:
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
InRIS Parus - USD 302,294
InRIS CFM Diversified - EUR 67,925
InRIS Perdurance Market Neutral - EUR 30,912
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11. Manager and Trading Advisor Fees (continued)

Trading Advisor Remuneration - Other Fees

During the financial year, InRIS Parus incurred Trading advisor - research costs in the amount of USD Nil (31
December 2021: USD 72,225) and InRIS Perdurance Market Neutral incurred Trading advisor - middle office
service charges in the amount of EUR Nil (31 December 2021: EUR 50,400).

Trading Advisor Remuneration — Performance Fees

The Trading Advisors of InRIS Parus, InRIS CFM Diversified and InRIS Perdurance Market Neutral are also
entitled to a performance fee. The performance fee is calculated and accrued on each valuation day as an
expense of the relevant share class, payable annually in arrears at the end of the calculation period.

The performance fees consist of between 10% to 20% (as disclosed below and overleaf) of the net trading gain,
being the greater of zero or the difference between the previous applicable high water mark (and the Hurdle Rate
for the relevant Funds shares applicable) and the net assets per share of the Funds as of the end of the relevant
calculation period.

The Funds do not apply an equalisation per share method or a series accounting method. Consequently, the rate
able performance fees to be borne by a shareholder may be greater than or less than the performance fee borne
by other shareholders depending on, among other things, the performance of the Funds and the payment periods
and investment period.

Fund Class Maximum Annual
Trading Advisor - Performance Fee

INRIS Parus’ Class C CHF hedged 20% of the net trading gain
Class C Euro hedged 20% of the net trading gain

Class C Euro unhedged 20% of the net trading gain

Class C GBP hedged 20% of the net trading gain

Class C USD 20% of the net trading gain

Class | CHF hedged 20% of the net trading gain

Class | Euro hedged 20% of the net trading gain

Class | Euro unhedged 20% of the net trading gain

Class | GBP hedged 20% of the net trading gain

Class | USD 20% of the net trading gain

Class Sl Euro hedged 20% of the net trading gain

Class X Euro hedged 16% of the net trading gain

1 Payable by reference to the net assets of each share class in excess of that share class’s high water mark.
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11. Manager and Trading Advisor Fees (continued)

Trading Advisor Remuneration — Performance Fees (continued)

Fund

InRIS CFM Diversified"

* N/A = Not applicable

Class

Class C CHF hedged
Class C Euro

Class C JPY hedged
Class C USD hedged
Class F Euro

Class G AUD hedged
Class G Euro

Class | CHF hedged
Class | Euro

Class 12 Euro

Class | GBP hedged
Class | JPY hedged
Class | USD hedged
Class M Euro

Class NC Euro

Class NI Euro

Class NI GBP hedged
Class R Euro

Class S| CHF hedged
Class Sl Euro

Class S| GBP hedged
Class SI USD hedged
Class SI2 Euro

Maximum Annual
Trading Advisor - Performance Fee

10% of the net trading gain
10% of the net trading gain
10% of the net trading gain
10% of the net trading gain
10% of the net trading gain
N/A
N/A
10% of the net trading gain
10% of the net trading gain
N/A
10% of the net trading gain
10% of the net trading gain
10% of the net trading gain
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
10% of the net trading gain
10% of the net trading gain
10% of the net trading gain
10% of the net trading gain
N/A

" For those classes which are subject to a performance fee, the fee is payable by reference to the net assets of each applicable
share class in excess of the higher of zero or the 1-Week EURIBOR and subject to that share class’ high water mark.
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11. Manager and Trading Advisor Fees (continued)

Trading Advisor Remuneration — Performance Fees (continued)

Maximum Annual

Trading Advisor - Performance Fee

Fund Class
InRIS Perdurance Class C Euro
Market Neutral Class C USD hedged

Class D Euro

Class F Euro

Class | CHF hedged
Class | Euro

Class | GBP hedged
Class ID GBP hedged
Class | USD hedged
Class NC Euro

Class ND Euro

Class NI Euro

Class NI GBP hedged
Class NID GBP hedged
Class NI USD hedged

20% of the net trading gain
20% of the net trading gain
20% of the net trading gain
20% of the net trading gain
20% of the net trading gain
20% of the net trading gain
20% of the net trading gain
20% of the net trading gain
20% of the net trading gain
20% of the net trading gain
20% of the net trading gain
20% of the net trading gain
20% of the net trading gain
20% of the net trading gain
20% of the net trading gain

" Payable by reference to the net assets of each share class in excess of the Euro Overnight Index Average (the “Hurdle

Rate”) and subject to that share class’ high water mark.

Trading advisor - performance fees incurred by Fund during the financial year is as follows:

Financial Year Ended
31 December
2022

InRIS Parus USD 1,136,988

Trading advisor - performance fees payable by Fund at the reporting date is as follows:

31 December
2022

InRIS Parus USD 1,136,988

12. Distribution Fees, Fixed Consultant Fees and Variable Consultant Fees

Financial Year Ended
31 December
2021

USD 1,448,680

31 December
2021

USD 4,352,485

The role of the Distributor/Consultant was to assist and advise the Company in the making of offers of shares
and to procure applicants for shares on terms and at the subscription prices set forth in the prospectus. Since 1
June 2021, ACIM performs all duties in relation to the management and distribution of the Company and the

role of Distributor/Consultant has ceased.
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12. Distribution Fees, Fixed Consultant Fees and Variable Consultant Fees (continued)

Distribution Fees

The Company paid the Distributor/Consultant a distribution fee. The distribution fee consisted of a percentage
of the net assets of each class in InRIS Parus, InRIS CFM Diversified, InRIS CFM Trends, InRIS Perdurance
Market Neutral and InRIS Prentice as disclosed below. The fees were accrued daily and paid quarterly in arrears.
The below fees were in place for the period from 1 January 2021 to 31 May 2021. From 1 June 2021, distribution
fees ceased to be charged by the Manager and instead the Company pays all Financial Management fees to
ACIM except for the Trading Advisory fee.

Fund Class Distribution Fee
InRIS Parus Class C CHF hedged 0.59%
Class C Euro hedged 0.59%
Class C Euro unhedged 0.59%
Class C GBP hedged 0.59%
Class C USD 0.59%
Class | CHF hedged 0.09%
Class | Euro hedged 0.09%
Class | Euro unhedged 0.09%
Class | GBP hedged 0.09%
Class | USD 0.09%
Class Sl Euro hedged 0.09%
Class X Euro hedged 0.09%
InRIS CFM Diversified Class C CHF hedged 0.59%
Class C Euro 0.59%
Class C JPY hedged 0.59%
Class C USD hedged 0.59%
Class F Euro 0.84%
Class G AUD hedged 0.00%
Class G Euro 0.00%
Class | CHF hedged 0.09%
Class | Euro 0.09%
Class I12 Euro 0.09%
Class | GBP hedged 0.09%
Class | JPY hedged 0.09%
Class | USD hedged 0.09%
Class M Euro N/A
Class NC Euro 0.59%
Class NI Euro 0.09%
Class NI GBP hedged 0.09%
Class R Euro 0.00%

* N/A = No distribution agreement
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Distribution Fees (continued)

Fund

InRIS CFM Diversified (continued)

InRIS CFM Trends

* N/A = No distribution agreement

Class

Class S| CHF hedged
Class Sl Euro

Class S| GBP hedged
Class SI USD hedged
Class SI2 Euro

Class C CHF hedged
Class C Euro hedged
Class C JPY hedged
Class C USD

Class F Euro hedged
Class | CHF hedged
Class | Euro hedged
Class 12 Euro hedged
Class | GBP hedged
Class | JPY hedged
Class | USD

Class M Euro hedged
Class NC Euro hedged
Class NI CHF hedged
Class NI Euro hedged
Class NI GBP hedged
Class NI USD

Class Sl Euro hedged
Class SI USD

Class SI2 Euro hedged
Class SI2 USD

Class SSI Euro hedged
Class SSI USD

Class SSI2 Euro hedged
Class SSI2 USD

Class W CHF hedged
Class WD Euro hedged
Class WD GBP hedged
Class WD USD

Distribution Fee
0.09%
0.09%
0.09%
0.09%
0.09%

0.59%
0.59%
0.59%
0.59%
0.84%
0.09%
0.09%
0.09%
0.09%
0.09%
0.09%

N/A
0.59%
0.09%
0.09%
0.09%
0.09%
0.09%
0.09%
0.09%
0.09%
0.09%
0.09%
0.09%
0.09%

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A
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Distribution Fees (continued)

Fund

InRIS Perdurance

Market Neutral

INRIS Prentice

* N/A = No distribution agreement

Class

Class C Euro

Class C USD hedged
Class D Euro

Class F Euro

Class | CHF hedged
Class | Euro

Class | GBP hedged
Class ID GBP hedged
Class | USD hedged
Class NC Euro

Class ND Euro

Class NI Euro

Class NI GBP hedged
Class NID GBP hedged
Class NI USD hedged

Class C CHF hedged
Class C Euro hedged
Class C USD

Class F Euro hedged
Class | CHF hedged
Class | Euro hedged
Class | GBP hedged
Class | USD

Class M Euro hedged
Class M USD

Class NI Euro hedged
Class NI USD

Class X Euro hedged
Class X USD

Distribution Fee
0.59%
0.59%
0.59%
0.84%
0.09%
0.09%
0.09%
0.09%
0.09%
0.59%
0.59%
0.09%
0.09%
0.09%
0.09%

0.59%
0.59%
0.59%
0.84%
0.09%
0.09%
0.09%
0.09%

N/A

N/A
0.09%
0.09%
0.09%
0.09%
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12. Distribution Fees, Fixed Consultant Fees and Variable Consultant Fees (continued)

Distribution Fees (continued)
Distribution fees incurred by Fund during the financial year is as follows:

Financial Year Ended Financial Year Ended

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

InRIS Parus - USD 103,936
InRIS CFM Diversified - EUR 42,270
INRIS Perdurance Market Neutral - EUR 47,578

There were no distribution fees payable by any Fund at the reporting date (31 December 2021: Nil).

Fixed Consultant Fees

From 1 June 2021, the Company does not pay fixed consultant fees. Prior to 1 June 2021, the Company paid
the Distributor/Consultant a fixed consultant fee of EUR 300,000 per annum, which was accrued on each
valuation point and paid quarterly out of the assets of each Fund of the Company, in proportion to their respective
NAV.

Fixed consultant fees incurred by Fund during the financial year is as follows:

Financial Year Ended Financial Year Ended

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

InRIS Parus - USD 47,959
InRIS CFM Diversified - EUR 39,272
INRIS Perdurance Market Neutral - EUR 14,791

Fixed consultant fees payable by Fund at the reporting date is as follows:

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

InRIS Parus - USD 4,809
InRIS CFM Diversified - EUR 11,225
InRIS Perdurance Market Neutral - EUR 4,192
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12. Distribution Fees, Fixed Consultant Fees and Variable Consultant Fees (continued)
Variable Consultant Fees
The Company also paid the Consultant a variable consultant fee which was equal to (or less than) the difference
between the total financial management fee disclosed in the relevant Funds’ offering supplement of each share
class' and:
I Trading Advisor management fee;
II.  Investment Management fees; and

Ill. Distribution fees

" Not applicable for Class W CHF hedged, Classes WD Euro hedged, Class WD GBP hedged, Class WD USD and Class M
Euro hedged in InRIS CFM Trends; and Class M Euro in InRIS CFM Diversified.

Variable consultant fees incurred by Fund during the financial year is as follows:

Financial Year Ended Financial Year Ended

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

InRIS Parus - USD 130,838
InRIS CFM Diversified - EUR 123,521
INRIS Perdurance Market Neutral - EUR 35,328

There were no variable consultant fees payable by any Fund at the reporting date (31 December 2021: Nil).

In addition to the variable consultant fees, the Consultant may share a portion of the performance fee payable
to Alma Capital Fund Management S.A., in respect of the classes of InRIS CFM Diversified, with the exception
of Class Sl Euro.

13. Auditor’s Remuneration

Remuneration for work carried out for the Company in respect of the financial year by the statutory audit firm
Deloitte Ireland LLP is as follows:

Financial Year Ended Financial Year Ended
31 December 31 December

2022 2021

uUsD uUsD

Auditors Remuneration

Statutory Audit Fees 39,511 50,955
Other Assurance Services - -
Tax Advisory - -
Other Non-Audit Services - -

39,511 50,955
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14. Share Capital

The Company is structured as an umbrella fund and may consist of different Funds each comprising one or more
classes of shares. The Company’s capital is represented by the participating shares outstanding. The capital of
each Fund shall at all times equal its NAV.

The objective of the Company is to efficiently deploy the capital of different Funds to different investment
strategies in order to enjoy the benefits of each distinct investment strategy. The Company strives to invest the
subscriptions of redeemable participating shares in investments that meet the Company’s investment objectives
while maintaining sufficient liquidity to meet shareholder redemptions.

The terms and conditions applicable to an application for the issue of Shares in a Fund may vary by Class from
Fund to Fund.

Authorised
The authorised share capital of the Company is:

e 2 redeemable non-participating voting subscriber shares of no par value;
299,998 redeemable non-participating non-voting management shares of no par value; and
500,000,000,000 participating shares of no par value (the “participating shares”).

Non-participating shares do not entitle the holders thereof to any dividend and on a winding up entitle the holders
thereof to receive the consideration paid thereof but do not otherwise entitle them to participate in the assets of
the Company. There are two voting non-participating shares currently in issue, which were taken by the
subscribers to the Company. There are no redeemable non-participating non-voting management shares in
issue.

Every shareholder or holder of voting non-participating shares present in person or by proxy who votes on a
show of hands shall be entitled to one vote.

Issued
Movement in participating shares for the year ending 31 December 2022 was as follows:

INRIS Parus
Shares at Shares at
Beginning of Shares Switch Shares Switch End of the
Class the Year Issued In Redeemed Out Year
C Euro hedged 55,781 63,847 - (24,984) - 94,644
C uUsD 116,031 9,318 140 (15,367) (140) 109,982
| CHF hedged 4,778 3,123 - - - 7,901
| Euro hedged 230,144 199,409 3,439 (107,620) (3,439) 321,933
| Euro unhedged 26,516 5,694 - (382) - 31,828
| GBP hedged 213 10,717 - (143) - 10,787
I USD 165,143 163,737 - (154,016) - 174,864
X Euro hedged 334,197 252,114 - (60,865) - 525,446
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14. Share Capital (continued)

Issued (continued)

INRIS CFM Diversified

Shares at Shares at
Beginning of Shares Switch Shares Switch End of the
Class the Year Issued In Redeemed Out Year
C Euro 30,181 4,668 - (20,985) - 13,864
F Euro 309 5 - (2) - 312
| CHF hedged 1,589 - - (1,000) - 589
| Euro 47,498 8,564 - (51,286) - 4,776
| GBP hedged 450 245 - (513) - 182
I USD hedged 2,787 120 - (362) - 2,545
M Euro 24,780 53,541 - (25,544) - 52,777
NC Euro 17,052 - - (14,211) - 2,841
R Euro 4,929 - - (4,929) - -
S| Euro 1,039,475 - - - - 1,039,475
INRIS Perdurance Market Neutral
Shares at Shares at
Beginning of Shares Switch Shares Switch End of the
Class the Year Issued In Redeemed Out Year
C Euro 55,875 499 - (50,509) - 5,865
| Euro 17,852 1,100 - (12,482) - 6,470
NC Euro 13,871 - - (8,346) - 5,525
NI Euro 121,071 - - (1,090) - 119,981
Movement in participating shares for the year ending 31 December 2021 was as follows:
INRIS Parus
Shares at Shares at
Beginning of Shares Switch Shares Switch End of the
Class the Year Issued In Redeemed Out Year
C Euro hedged 66,018 6,626 6,664 (16,863) (6,664) 55,781
C uUsD 128,574 3,294 11,625 (15,837) (11,625) 116,031
| CHF hedged 3,592 1,901 715 (715) (715) 4,778
| Euro hedged 200,015 61,406 112,539 (31,277) (112,539) 230,144
| Euro unhedged 25,003 1,513 - - - 26,516
| GBP hedged 213 - 213 - (213) 213
| USD 91,493 80,952 134,353 (7,303) (134,352) 165,143
X Euro hedged 365,907 27,325 - (59,035) - 334,197
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14. Share Capital (continued)

Issued (continued)

InNRIS CFM Diversified

Shares at Shares at
Beginning of Shares Switch Shares Switch End of the
Class the Year Issued In Redeemed Out Year
C Euro 42,721 10,543 7,596 (23,083) (7,596) 30,181
F Euro 1,628 - - (1,319) - 309
| CHF hedged 1,654 - 65 (65) (65) 1,589
| Euro 197,900 5,858 75,974 (156,260) (75,974) 47,498
| GBP hedged 718 - - (268) - 450
I USD hedged 5,753 - 4,646 (2,966) (4,646) 2,787
M Euro 33,241 2,612 - (11,073) - 24,780
NC Euro 23,220 - 47 (6,168) (47) 17,052
NI Euro 62,393 - - (62,394) - 1)
R Euro 16,729 - 10,000 (11,800) (10,000) 4,929
S| Euro 1,039,475 - - - - 1,039,475
INRIS CFM Trends?
Shares at Shares at
Beginning of Shares Switch Shares Switch End of the
Class the Year Issued In Redeemed Out Year
| Euro hedged 55,488 733 - (56,221) - -
I USD 18,500 - - (18,500) - -
WD Euro hedged 180,943 6,869 - (187,812) - -
WD GBP hedged 817,473 40,556 - (858,029) - -
WD USD 69,986 81,486 - (151,472) - -
" Fully redeemed on 04 May 2021.
INRIS Perdurance Market Neutral
Shares at Shares at
Beginning of Shares Switch Shares Switch End of the
Class the Year Issued In Redeemed Out Year
C Euro 295,320 34,315 166 (273,760) (166) 55,875
| Euro 47,419 14,932 16,800 (44,499) (16,800) 17,852
NC Euro 30,058 - 1,896 (16,187) (1,896) 13,871
NI Euro 229,794 - - (108,723) - 121,071

76



InRIS UCITS Plc

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

14. Share Capital (continued)
Issued (continued)

InRIS Prentice!

Shares at Shares at

Beginning of Shares Switch Shares Switch End of the

Class the Year Issued In Redeemed Out Year
C UsD 31,918 - - (31,918) - -
| Euro hedged 4,000 - - (4,000) - -
I USD 69,697 - - (69,697) - -
M Euro hedged 111 - - (111) - -
M USD 32 - - (32) - -
NI Euro hedged 128,679 - - (128,679 - -
NI USD 39,859 - - (39,859) - -
X Euro hedged 198,251 - - (198,251) - -
X USD 35,511 - - (35,511) - -

" Fully redeemed on 02 February 2021.
NAV per share at 31 December 2022 is disclosed in note 23.
15. Financial Instrument Disclosures and Associated Risks

The Manager is responsible for the management of the investment of the assets of the Company in accordance
with the investment objectives and policies described in the prospectus.

The Manager has appointed Trading Advisors for the management of assets of the Funds. The Manager has
specified the parameters within which the Trading Advisors are to manage assets allocated to them, and in
particular, has specified the investment objective, investment strategy and restrictions that are applicable to such
assets.

The strategies of the Funds are implemented by the Trading Advisors. The Trading Advisors are responsible for
the discretionary investment management of the Funds, subject to the terms of the offering supplements and
the Trading Advisory Agreements. Details of the Trading Advisor and the investment objective and policies for
each of the Funds are disclosed in the offering supplements.

The Funds are exposed to market, credit, and liquidity risk arising from the financial instruments they hold. The
nature and the extent of the financial instruments outstanding at the reporting date are set out in the portfolio
statements and the risk management policies employed to manage these risks are detailed below and overleaf.

Risk is measured and managed by the Manager and Trading Advisors for the Funds.

77



InRIS UCITS Plc

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

15. Financial Instrument Disclosures and Associated Risks (continued)
(a) Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of financial assets or liabilities will fluctuate because of changes in,
amongst other things, foreign exchange rates, interest rates and other prices. The approach to the management
of market risk is driven by the investment objective of the Funds.

The Funds’ portfolios are susceptible to market price risk arising from uncertainties about future prices. Price
movements can be volatile and are influenced by, among other things, changing supply and demand
relationships, government trade and fiscal policies, national and international political and economic events and
changes in exchange rates and interest rates.

The Funds may invest in securities denominated in currencies other than their reporting currency. Consequently,
the Funds are exposed to risks that the exchange rate of the investing currency, relative to the reporting currency
may move in a manner that may have a favourable or unfavourable effect on the value of the Funds’ assets.

The Funds are subject to exposure to cash flow interest rate risk due to fluctuations in the prevailing levels of
market interest rates affecting the amount of interest income and expense arising on cash and broker balances
and debt and derivative instruments held.

The management of risk is an integral part of the trading programme adopted by the Company.

The Funds market risk is managed on a daily basis by the Manager, supported by the Trading Advisors, using
a daily Value-at-Risk (“VaR”) limit. VaR is a widely accepted risk measurement concept that uses statistical
models to estimate, within a given level of confidence, the maximum loss that the Funds would experience from
an adverse 1-day movement in market rates and prices. The VaR measured is based on a 99% confidence level
for all of the Funds.

The VaR is processed using a historical simulation of the previous 2 years of trading days for InRIS Parus and
InRIS Perdurance Market Neutral. The VaR is processed using a Monte Carlo simulation of 2 years of trading
days for InRIS CFM Diversified and InRIS CFM Trends. The VaR is processed using a historical simulation of
the previous 1 years of trading days for InRIS Prentice. On 25 May 2020, the methodology for the calculation of
global exposure for InRIS Prentice was changed from the VaR approach to the commitment approach. As a
consequence, a VaR limit no longer applies for InRIS Prentice from this date, and no further monitoring of VaR
levels for this sub-fund is required.
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15. Financial Instrument Disclosures and Associated Risks (continued)
(&) Market Risk (continued)

The VaR usage or exposure as a percentage of NAV at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 for each
Fund are set out in the following table below, together with the applicable maximum limit at the equivalent dates.

Fund VaR Limit VaR Usage

2022 2021 2022 2021
InRIS Parus* N/A 4.20% N/A -
InRIS CFM Diversified 1.47% 1.47% 1.15% 0.64%
InRIS CFM Trends - 2.10% - -
INRIS Perdurance Market Neutral 3.00% 3.00% 1.12% 1.21%
InRIS Prentice - No Limit - -

* Effective 30th April, VaR approach no longer applies to InRIS Parus, and instead the commitment approach will apply for
calculation of Global exposure.

The Manager is responsible for calculating the VaR of the Funds and for monitoring the Trading Advisor’'s
compliance within set limits.

The concept of VaR has a number of practical advantages and disadvantages. Advantages are that it quantifies
potential losses in simple terms (e.g. a 1% chance of a loss exceeding USD 1 million), and has met with approval from
various regulatory bodies concerned with the risks faced by financial institutions. Limitations include estimation
difficulties, and sensitivity to estimation methods used; a tendency to underestimate worst-case outcomes; it paints an
incomplete picture of a distribution.

The models are based on historical data and cannot take account of the fact that future market price movements,
correlations between markets and levels of market liquidity in conditions of market stress may bear no relation
to historical patterns. The market price risk information is a relative estimate of risk rather than a precise and
accurate number.

The market price information represents a hypothetical outcome and is not intended to be predictive (in the case of
probability-based methods, such as VaR, profits and losses are almost certain to exceed the reported amount with a
frequency depending on the confidence interval chosen); and future market conditions could vary significantly from
those experienced in the past.
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15. Financial Instrument Disclosures and Associated Risks (continued)
(&) Market Risk (continued)

The following table details the Funds’ maximum, minimum and average VaR for the financial years ended 31
December 2022 and 31 December 2021.

Fund Maximum VaR Minimum VaR Average VaR

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
InRIS Parus* - - -
InRIS CFM Diversified 6.50% 2.45% 4.44%
InRIS Perdurance Market Neutral 5.24% 4.22% 4.69%

* Effective 30th April, VaR approach no longer applies to InRIS Parus, and instead the commitment approach will apply for
calculation of Global exposure.

The Company has certain investment and borrowing restrictions in place in order to manage the Funds’
exposures and comply with Central Bank requirements. The Manager ensures that the Funds’ portfolios remain
in line with these restrictions.

The Trading Advisors may only invest in authorised instruments, within specified concentration limits, and with
certain restrictions on borrowing and lending.

Currency Risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Funds may invest in financial instruments and enter into transactions denominated in currencies other than its
functional currency. Consequently, the Funds are exposed to the risk that the exchange rate of its currency relative
to other foreign currencies may change in a manner that has an adverse effect on the value of that portion of the
Funds’ assets or liabilities denominated in currencies other than USD or EUR.

The Funds may utilise forward currency contracts for the purposes of portfolio and/or share class hedging.
The currency exposure of the Funds is outlined in the tables overleaf. The amounts disclosed represent the fair

value exposure of the assets and liabilities (before any hedging through forward currency contracts) at the
reporting date.

80



InRIS UCITS Plc

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

15. Financial Instrument Disclosures and Associated Risks (continued)
(&) Market Risk (cont